A Meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held at the Civic
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham on THURSDAY 25 JUNE
2015 AT 7.30 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 17 June 2015

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE
Keith Baker
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Jorgensen
John Kaiser
Philip Mirfin
Anthony Pollock
Angus Ross

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader and Health and Wellbeing
Children's Services
Resident Services
Planning and Highways
Regeneration and Communities
Economic Development and Finance
Environment

SUBJECT

15.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

16.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 May
2015.

17.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

18.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of the Executive
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

19.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice
Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will
be dealt with in a written reply

PAGE
NO.

5 - 16

19.1

Maiden Erlegh;
Winnersh

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey has asked the Executive
Member for Planning and Highways the following
question:
Question
I have been informed that the second part of the
Loddon Viaduct repairs on the westbound carriageway
are to be delayed. When the work took place last year
during the school summer holiday period, this council
stated that this was a major maintenance project that
had to be done and was very complex and necessary.
Can you be certain that by taking a decision to delay
the work probably for a further year, you are not putting
people’s safety at risk?

MATTERS FOR CONSDERATION
20.

None Specific

TRAVELLING TO WOKINGHAM TOWN CENTRE OUR VISION FOR THE FUTURE

17 - 28

21.

None Specific

CHANGES TO CHARGING FOR ADULT SOCIAL
CARE SERVICES

29 - 76

22.

Finchampstead
South;
Remenham,
Wargrave and
Ruscombe;
Swallowfield

PROCEDURE FOR DEALING WITH SPECIAL
EVENT TEMPORARY CLOSURES ON PUBLIC
RIGHTS OF WAY

77 - 80

23.

None Specific

COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES' BUSINESS

81 - 88

A decision sheet will be available for inspection at the Council’s offices (in Democratic
Services and the General Office) and on the web site no later than two working days after
the meeting.
CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Service Manager, Democratic Services
0118 974 6051
democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE EXECUTIVE
HELD ON 28 MAY 2015 FROM 7.30 PM TO 8.10 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Keith Baker (Chairman), Julian McGhee-Sumner, Charlotte Haitham Taylor,
Pauline Jorgensen, John Kaiser, Philip Mirfin, Anthony Pollock and Angus Ross
Other Councillors Present
Prue Bray
Norman Jorgensen
Malcolm Richards
1.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence received.
2.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 26 March 2015 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
3.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Anthony Pollock declared a personal interest in Item 10, Council Owned
Companies Business, by virtue of the fact that he was an unpaid Non-Executive Director of
Optalis. Councillor Pollock remained in the meeting during discussions and voted on the
matter.
Councillor Pauline Jorgensen declared a personal interest in Item 10, Council Owned
Companies Business, by virtue of the fact that her husband was a paid Non-Executive
Director of WBC Holdings Ltd. Councillor Jorgensen remained in the meeting during
discussions and voted on the matter.
4.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited members of the public to
submit questions to the appropriate Members.
4.1

Claire MacDonald asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question:

Question
We understand that space can be made available at Loddon School, using either “The
Parent Hut”, which has provision for young children, or the former Children’s Centre which
is, currently partly used as offices. Considering there are circa 30 Earley families that have
been offered a divert school then we would like to understand from the Executive what
factors are preventing the council from utilising this space for a 2015/16 reception class?"
Answer
The Loddon buildings as you know are fully deployed at the moment. The former
Children’s Centre has been leased to Loddon Primary School to provide additional Early
Years capacity; so that is for two year old children at the moment. This is to meet a
statutory need to provide additional places for younger children. The offices are used by
Wokingham Borough Council and they accommodate the “Adopt Berkshire” service. Adopt
Berkshire provide adoption services for four unitary authorities. Due to the sensitivity of the

services provided the activities could not be relocated in time to be confident that the
space could be released to be remodelled as a classroom. The parent hut is well used to
provide a necessary training space that it would be difficult to replicate elsewhere at short
notice. It is possible that using any of these spaces as teaching spaces would constitute a
change of use for planning purposes; and if so would require planning consent.
Internal space is only part of the need though and the Council would need to determine if
the playing areas would provide sufficient space to accommodate 30 additional children
and that needs to be done with safety in mind as well; without compromising their
education.
The fundamental problem with creating a bulge class is not only around the provision of
space (internal and external). They are around the recruitment of staff, funding, the wider
impact on education, the impact on future admissions and on the local community and in
particular managing the school run.
A bulge class requires a school to be able to deploy a series of specialist teachers for
relatively short periods. This inevitably means employing teachers on short term contracts.
This works against the need to provide a stable, highly skilled team of teachers to run a
school to provide the quality of education that our children need.
Funding comes from a central pot; this is called the Dedicated Schools Grant or DSG as
many people know it. It is normally “lagged” and that is to say that the funding is largely
based on headcount from the previous academic year. Bulge classes need additional non
formulaic funding to fund teacher and resources; because these are new classes on top of
the previous year’s headcount. This reduces the funding available to schools generally.
This is particularly problematic at a time when the Council knows that it has a large
number of new schools to open all of which will require top up funding, on top of the
formulaic funding, to support them in their early years.
Not only would the new class require additional unplanned for spend in the 2015/16 year,
but the removal of the children from other local schools to the bulge class would lead to
the school suffering a reduced budget in their 2016/17 year. These schools are currently
making staffing and activity plans based on their expected rolls and unplanned for roll
reductions has a direct impact on the services they can provide for their school roll.
Children admitted to a bulge class after the normal admission round often come from the
surrounding community, outside the school’s Designated Area. The consequence of this is
that additional siblings in later years may not have a prior claim on school places over first
and only children; even when those live in the Designated Area and the families with a
sibling claim do not.
The wider community impact must also be considered. A bulge class will generate
additional school run car trips. Where schemes have a longer preparation period it is often
possible to look at measures to mitigate that impact. This could be through additional
parking controls eg yellow lines or new parent drop-off zones or measures to encourage
walking to school like walking buses. If planning consent for change of use is required then
these measures would need to be in place before the classes are opened. This might not
be possible at this stage.
The final issue and consideration is the ability of the school to be able to respond to this
request. The school are keen to help the community but have informed us that regrettably

they will not be able to assist due to the teaching capacity at the school available for
2015/2016.
Supplementary Question
On 18 May George Osborne e-mailed a Leed’s parent in a similar situation to us saying it
is incumbent on councils to ensure school places are allocated in a way that meets the
needs of local parents. Given that Loddon Primary School has existing infrastructure and
empty classrooms what measures are the Council taking to help the headteacher of
Loddon secure the staff she needs for an extra September intake and have the Council
taken advice or learned lessons from George Osborne and Leeds City Council who have
managed to secure 90 additional places for children, appoint the necessary teachers,
secure the co-operation of heads and governors of three schools all within five weeks of a
school place shortage becoming public knowledge?
Supplementary Answer
We have asked the school and their response thus far has been that they are unable to
assist this year. I understand why you are asking because of the other services that are
already provided in those spaces. I think my first answer gave you the answers about
what those spaces are being used for at the moment. If we were to put in a bulge class
then we would need to consider where the bulge class would go and those spaces at the
moment are not available for that bulge class.
If we are to go back to the school we would need to be asking them where else we could
put a bulge class and we would also need to consider what other teachers would be used
for that bulge class.
In terms of our duty to provide sufficient places this year we have done that in the Borough
and over the last number of years I have been in place as Lead Member we have fulfilled
our sufficiency duty to find places within the Borough. I am incredibly sympathetic with the
fact that they are not within the local area to where you would wish them to be. What I can
say is that it is a long time between now and September and I know that some of those
places will change and some parents will be able to send their children to more local
schools. I hope that those numbers will change dramatically between now and then but we
will work with parents between this date and September to ensure that there are as many
places as possible locally so that you are not having to go too far to local places.
The Leader of Council made the following comment:
I know you will be disappointed with that answer but if the Head is saying they can’t help.
In the case of Leeds you are probably absolutely right that everybody was willing to try and
work and I am sure we will be continuing to try and find a solution to this particular issue.
4.2

Gill Purchase had asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question and due to her inability to attend the meeting a written
answer was provided as set out below:

Question
Would the Lead for Children’s Services, Cllr Charlotte Haitham Taylor, offer a detailed
explanation as to why such a large amount of additional funding (6.9m) is now needed for
the secondary school?

Answer
As explained in section 2.1 of the Executive Paper, the project estimate of £24m provided
in July 2014 was based on a basic, 3 storey DfE design. This design made certain
assumptions, such as standard ‘pad’ foundations, basic external finishes and flat roofs. It
only had a 4 court sports hall. The allowance for FFE (furniture, fittings and equipment)
was also lower than WBC would normally provide. The price was also based on
construction costs for the 2nd quarter of 2014.
When the design has been uplifted to take into account these features, eg. enlarging the
sports hall from 4 to 6 courts for community use, and index linked the real cost (as at April
2015) is approximately £28m. This would still only provide a basic design.
Since July, the Council has worked with parents and other stakeholders to improve the
design (see section 2.1),eg additional breakout space equivalent to 6 large classrooms
has been added to improve teaching space flexibility. A full list of improvements to the
design is set out below.
The design has also changed to take into account planning requirements which has
resulted in changes to finishes eg. replacing render with bricks, increasing costs though
ensuring that the building is in keeping with its environment.
In the normal course of building projects of this type, detailed site investigations have been
carried out which have highlighted the need for additional groundworks including
enhanced foundations and most importantly flood management and drainage. Finally, the
design had to ensure that the building was capable of being expanded to 1500 places and
this resulted in increases in core facilities and services. These changes have increased the
cost by £2.9m
Summary of Design Improvements:








4.3

Break out spaces:
o Equivalent to 6 additional classrooms
o improves teaching options and introduces flexibility
Pitched roofs and increased floor area to main hall/dining room and
entrance/learning resource centre:
o Improved environment for school use and cultural events
o Seating for 500-600 people
o Aesthetically pleasing, in keeping with masterplan vision and planning
requirement
Enhanced core facilities to support future growth and community use:
o Kitchens, catering, services infrastructure
Glazed stairwells at ends of wings
o Improved safeguarding and lighting
Wider corridors and covered walkway:
o Improves circulation and flow management
High specification sports facility:
o full size all weather pitch with floodlighting.
o allows competitive/league matches, and higher levels of usage for
community
Claire Hickman had asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question but due to her inability to attend the meeting a written
answer was provided as set out below:

Question
In relation to Agenda item 13, Secondary School, pages 73 to 82, would the Lead for
Children's Services, Cllr Charlotte Haitham Taylor, please tell parents how much of the
£3.36m of the contingency finance request has been allocated to hire 'temporary specialist
buildings' (portable cabins) and why there use contradicts what a senior officer stated on
WBC's Project 16 social media page that there would not be a ‘portakabin in sight’?
Answer
The cost of providing temporary accommodation, should there be a delay in opening the
new school building, has yet to be detailed but would be dependent on the duration of the
delay and the curriculum requirements of the school provider. A nominal sum of £500k has
been allowed for but this is by no means fixed.
The S106 agreement already includes the option for the Council to use the existing
garrison library/training centre and gymnasium as temporary accommodation to provide
classrooms and sports facilities. These buildings are of high quality and have the support
of parents, Members and providers who have inspected them. Dependent on the needs of
the provider, they could be supplemented by, for example, specialist science or catering
accommodation.
The quality of modular buildings these days is very high and the use of the term
‘portakabin’ is misleading. Modular buildings are in widespread use in schools and children
are by no means disadvantaged by their use.
The Council is committed to providing a high quality learning environment for its pupils
whether the accommodation is temporary or permanent.
5.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited Members to submit
questions to the appropriate Members
5.1

Prue Bray asked the Executive Member for Economic Development and
Finance the following question:

Question
The Capital Outturn Report on P.32 shows a proposed carry forward into 15/16 of
£50,236,000. Pages 35 and 36 provide detail about £7,506,000 of the proposed carry
forward that relates to 14/15 planned capital expenditure.
Would you specify in the same detail the remaining £ 42,730,000 proposed carry forward,
so that the information shows which schemes and their related capital amount are being
carried forward and when the spend was originally planned to occur?
Answer
Your question relates to schemes that were funded and have already been committed and
as such the funding is carried forward automatically; so we can’t start schemes or put
schemes in the programme until we have funding.
Out of the £42.7m committed carry forward, £30.5m relates to schemes that were profiled
to begin in the following financial year, 15/16, and the remaining £12.2m relates to
schemes begun in 14/15 where there has been slippage.

The detail you require I have not been able to dig up in time but perhaps you and I can
meet outside this meeting and I will try and give you the information which you require.
Supplementary Question
We do all understand that there is a difference between the carry forwards for capital
schemes, which were profiled to last for several years, and the carry forwards for capital
schemes which have slipped. For the sake of transparency and for the sake of strategic
oversight I think the capital outturn report should give details of both. Could you undertake
that in future capital outturn reports there will be some clear and detailed information on
the carry forwards for both the multi-year projects and projects where spend has slipped?
Supplementary Answer
I will discuss your suggestion with my relevant Officer and see what can be done.
6.
REVENUE MONITORING 2014/15 - OUTTURN 2014-15
The Executive considered a report setting out the outturn position of the revenue budget,
general fund including carry forward requests, Housing Revenue Account, Schools Block
and the Authority’s investment portfolio.
The Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance thanked the Council’s
Financial Team and Officers throughout the Council for managing to balance the budget,
bearing in mind the issues that had arisen during the year that had suggested a potential
overspend, and also for the small number of carry forwards proposed. Councillor Pollock
confirmed that the final position of the revenue budget was a £30k underspend; the
Housing Revenue Account an underspend of nearly £1m, which was effectively recycled
spending on the Council’s housing stock; and the Schools Block was an overspend of
£22k.
The Executive Member for Environment highlighted the £10k carry forward for jubilee tree
maintenance and the benefit of this money which was being spent on maintaining the 60
oak trees that had been planted around the Borough as part of the Diamond Jubilee
celebrations.
RESOLVED That:
1)
the outturn position of the revenue budget and the level of forecast balances in
respect of the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, Schools Block and the
Authority’s investment portfolio be noted;
2)

the General Fund carry forward requests of £297,000, as set out in Appendix F to
the report, be agreed.

7.
CAPITAL OUTTURN REPORT 2014/15
The Executive considered a report setting out the outturn for the capital budget, including
proposed carry forwards.
The Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance advised the meeting of an
error in the report that had recently come to light. In Table 2.2 the overall underspend was
actually £83k and not £46k as shown in the report.
Councillor Pollock highlighted the proposed carry forwards, as detailed in Appendix B of
the report, some of which were as a result of a planned slippage and other slippages

related to schemes which were started and not completed as expected. He also
highlighted that the level of the capital programme had increased substantially in recent
years as a result of work on the Strategic Development Locations, the building of new
schools and improvements to a number of secondary schools.
RESOLVED That:
1)
the Capital Outturn and committed carry forwards (for 2014/15) as set out in
Appendix A to the report, be noted;
2)

the carry forwards for schemes which are awaiting contractual commitment (totalling
£7.5m) detailed in Appendix B to the report, be approved.

8.

GYPSY AND TRAVELLER LOCAL PLAN PREFERRED OPTIONS
CONSULTATION
The Executive considered a report relating to the Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan
Preferred Options which were intended for consultation for an eight week period from 4
June to 30 July.
The Executive Member for Planning and Highways advised that all Councils were required
by Government to identify accommodation needs for gypsies and travellers and prepare a
plan showing how these needs would be met. The Plan would also allow the Council to
resist gypsy and traveller sites in unplanned and inappropriate locations whilst ensuring
that there was sufficient provision available to meet any identified need.
Councillor Kaiser confirmed that no site allocation would be taking place until all comments
from residents and other interested parties had been received which would inform the final
decisions. The Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan Preferred Options document sets out how
any identified future accommodation needs for gypsies and travellers could be met up to
2029. If approved the communities’ view would be sought on the various approaches
chosen to address this issue; including size and location of new gypsy and traveller sites.
Following the consultation the Council would prepare the proposed submission plan based
on the outcome of the consultation which would be subject to further consultation later this
year. The document would include detailed planning policy and guidance to inform and
manage future gypsy and traveller development.
RESOLVED that:
1)
the Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan Preferred Options be approved for consultation
for an eight week period together with publishing supporting documents;
2)

9.

the Director of Environment, in consultation with the Executive Member for Planning
and Highways, be authorised to agree minor modifications to the Gypsy and
Traveller Local Plan Preferred Options and other supporting documents prior to
consultation. (Any minor modifications would consist of non-material alterations
such as rewording and correction of typing errors).

CHANGES TO CHARGING FOR ATTENDANCE AT ADULT SOCIAL CARE DAY
CENTRES FROM JUNE 2015
The Executive considered a report relating to confirmation of changes to charging for
attendance at Adult Social Care Day Centres as agreed at the 29 January Executive
meeting.

The Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing clarified that the Executive, at its meeting
on 29 January 2015, agreed full cost recovery for day services subject to a maximum
additional charge of £50 per week up to March 2017 before introducing the full charge for
2017/18 onwards. Unfortunately this change was inadvertently omitted in the fees and
charges document that was considered by the Executive at its meeting on 19 February
2015 and therefore the decision made at that meeting reversed the decision made on 29
January 2015.
RESOLVED: That the decision previously made at 29 January 2015 Executive of a new
social care charging framework with social care customers, carers and residents in
Wokingham Borough be confirmed. The recommendations are as follows:
1)

that all chargeable services will be charged for, subject to a financial assessment,
with the objective of removing subsidies for those who can afford to fund the cost of
their care package (generally those with more than £23,250 in savings);

2)

that the new charges are phased in for those currently receiving services such that
any increase in charges is capped at £50 per week up until the end of March 2017,
but that the full charge is applied thereafter.

10.
COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES' BUSINESS
(Councillors Pauline Jorgensen and Anthony Pollock declared personal interests in this
item)
The Executive considered a report relating to the business of the Council owned
companies, including the budget monitoring position up to February 2015.
The Leader of Council informed the meeting that the revised style of report was intended
to address transparency issues that had been raised. The intention was that the report
would be considered at every Executive meeting and would highlight significant changes
and items of interest relating to the Council Owned Companies.
RESOLVED That the following be noted:
1)
the strategy and objectives of the Council’s subsidiary companies;
2)

the budget monitoring position for the ten months to February 2015;

3)

the operational update for the ten months to February 2015.

11.
GORSE RIDE SOUTH
The Executive considered a report setting out proposals for Gorse Ride South, an estate in
the Finchampstead South ward of Wokingham Borough, which were required following
concerns raised about the construction type of the properties.
The Executive Member for Planning and Highways reported that there were 177 houses in
Gorse Ride South most of which were of non-traditional build and it was becoming
increasingly difficult to keep them within the Government’s Decent Homes Standards. It
was therefore proposed to consult on proposals, which would be informed by the new
Right to Buy legislation, and remove the right to buy which required the serving of a
demolition order. Councillor Kaiser confirmed that as the site was so large it would take a
number of years to finalise any scheme and there was no intention to rush in and demolish
all the houses.

It was confirmed that the Community Development Team would fully support all residents.
Councillor Kaiser also stated that if the project went forward it was the intention that living
conditions for current tenants would continue as before and the Council would make sure
that any repairs that were required to the properties would be undertaken.
RESOLVED That:
1)
demolition notices be served to the tenants living in council owned homes in Gorse
Ride South in order to suspend any further Right to Buy, excluding those living in
sheltered accommodation and designated bungalows as these are exempt from the
Right to Buy; and
2)

a project group be formed to undertake feasibility work and carry out a public
consultation around options for the future of Gorse Ride South, to include Cockayne
Court.

12.
TAPE LANE
The Executive considered a report setting out proposals to replace six defective homes at
21-26 Tape Lane, Hurst, which can no longer be maintained, with new homes at affordable
rents; subject to planning permission.
The Executive Member for Planning and Highways outlined the proposals which included
the demolition of 21-26 Tape Lane and the decanting of current tenants to temporary or
permanent homes. Councillor Kaiser confirmed that the current tenants would be given
the choice of going to permanent accommodation supplied by the Council or temporary
accommodation with the ability to move back to the new homes in Tape Lane where they
would be given priority.
RESOLVED That:
1)
the demolition of 21 – 26 Tape Lane, Hurst be approved;
2)

the decanting of tenants to temporary or permanent homes be approved;

3)

funding of £2m consisting of £1.4m from the HRA and £600k from the retained
Right to Buy receipts, which is currently available within the HRA be approved;

4)

authority be delegated to the Director of Health and Wellbeing to submit a detailed
planning application for the redevelopment of 21-26 Tape Lane.

13.
NEW SECONDARY SCHOOL IN THE SOUTH OF WOKINGHAM
The Executive considered a report relating to the proposed new Secondary School in the
South of Wokingham including a request for additional funding and an update on the
progress of the project.
The Executive Member for Children’s Services went through the report and explained that
when the project was first agreed by the Executive in 2014 the scheme was based on a
basic three storey Department for Education design and it made certain assumptions
about a number of different things including: foundations; basic external finishing of the
building eg flat roofs etc; and also the fittings and fixtures within the building.
Since then a lot of work has been carried out to consider the community needs as well as
the educational needs for the building. As a result of this work, which was informed by the

Parent Reference Group, the scheme has been uplifted to take into account a much larger
sports facility and enhancements to the design of the building including: breakout spaces
along the corridors which equates to the equivalent of six additional classrooms which
would provide more flexible teaching spaces; two large barn constructions in the centre
areas which would provide an improved environment for school use and community use
when the building was not being used by the school; and enhanced facilities for a much
larger school accommodating 1,500 pupils eg kitchen and science areas. As part of the
enhanced sports facilities there would be a full size all-weather pitch with floodlighting
which would allow competitive league matches to take place.
Members queried whether the additional spend would mean that other schools would have
their capital funding removed. Councillor Haitham Taylor confirmed that there was £2m
included in the capital budget for other school improvements. It was noted that schools,
academies and free schools also had other routes they could use to apply for funding.
It was noted that in addition £3.36m, from basic need money, had been put aside as
contingency for the project. It was not expected to have to use the contingency therefore if
it was not required it would be used for other educational purposes.
Councillor Ross queried what the designated area of the new school would be as concerns
had been raised by some of the residents in his ward who believed that the catchment
area would spread to Wokingham Without. Councillor Haitham Taylor confirmed that all
the interested providers had stated their intention to have the same designated area as
currently applies to Forest, Holt, Emmbrook and St Crispins. There would be no change
for Wokingham Without parents at this time however at some point in the future the school
may wish to establish its own designated area and change it slightly but this would require
Secretary of State approval.
The meeting noted that a lot of the changes that had resulted in the additional funding
being required had been put forward by the Parent Reference Group who had played a
key part in deciding what was best for the school. Councillor Haitham Taylor gave her
thanks to the Group for being so committed in helping to develop the school for the
community.
RESOLVED That:
1)
additional funding of £6.9m be approved;
2)

the provision of a contingency of £3.36m be approved;

3)

the progress made by the project be noted;

4)

the risks to the opening of the school and the contingency plans put in place be
noted;

5)

authority be delegated to the Director Finance and Resources to forward fund the
project through short term borrowing of £7.5m in 15/16;

6)

how the shortfall and contingency will be funded, as set out in paragraph 2.7 of the
report be noted.

14.
WOKINGHAM THEATRE NEW LEASE
The Executive considered a report relating to the granting of a 50 year lease to
Wokingham Theatre which would enable the Theatre to raise funds for the enhancement
of the building.
The Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities brought to the attention of the
meeting that the wording in the report, which stated that the building was becoming
dilapidated, was actually incorrect. In fact the building had been so successful it now
needed to expand and that was why the Council wished to support the Theatre by
extending the lease.
Councillor Mirfin reported that giving the Theatre a 50 year lease would allow them to get
funding to provide rehearsal and studio rooms which would extend the opportunity in the
community. In return the Theatre would ensure that the Council would be mentioned as
sponsors in all their programmes. Members were pleased to note there would be regular
RPI reviews.
RESOLVED: That a new 50 year lease be granted to allow Wokingham Theatre to raise
funds to enhance the building.

TITLE

Travelling to Wokingham Town Centre – Our
Vision for the Future

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 25 June 2015

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Heather Thwaites, Director of Environment

LEAD MEMBER

John Kaiser, Executive Member for Planning and
Highways

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
A coordinated, strategic approach to travelling to Wokingham Town Centre ensures that
visitors have choice and flexibility in how they travel, to ensure their visit is a positive
one that they will want to repeat.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive endorse the approach outlined in Travelling to Wokingham Town
Centre – Our Vision for the Future as set out in Appendix A.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The report outlines how the Council is taking a strategic approach to ensure that visitors
to Wokingham have choice about how they make their journey through a range of
sustainable travel options, and a positive experience when they arrive including a good
quality environment for pedestrians and cyclists, and space to park their car.

Background
Regeneration of Wokingham Town Centre is well underway, and well as the delivery of
our Strategic Development Locations, which are bringing over 10,000 new homes to the
borough.
Our regenerated town centre will deliver an improved retail and leisure offer for the
growing number of borough residents, as well as those visiting from elsewhere.
We want to ensure that we are making the journey to Wokingham Town Centre as
positive an experience as possible, offering choice of means of travel, and a high quality
environment for car drivers and those using sustainable methods of transport when they
arrive.
Our Vision therefore aims to demonstrate how we are coordinating this approach, but
also planning for the future to ensure that visitors will want to return.
Analysis of Issues
Our regenerated town centre aims to encourage a greater number of visitors to the town
centre, and the growth in the borough’s population will add to the traffic on the roads.
Our strategic approach aims to ensure a coordinated and forward thinking plan to
ensure that visitors have access to a range of travel options, and that we have sufficient
parking to meet demand.
The vision outlines how we are working to address:






Traffic flows
The demand for car parking spaces
Park and Ride opportunities
Public transport options
Improved pedestrian and cycling facilities

both now and in the future.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

None from this
report
None from this
report
None from this
report

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
This approach supports the regeneration of Wokingham Town Centre, and also
promotes the benefits of sustainable travel, contributing to health and wellbeing of local
residents.
List of Background Papers
Travelling to Wokingham Town Centre – Our Vision for the Future
Contact Sarah Hollamby/Matt Davey
Telephone No 0118 974 6817/908 8304

Date 15 June 2015

Service Development Policy and
Planning/Highways and Transport
Email
sarah.hollamby@wokingham.gov.uk/matt.
davey@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

TRAVELLING TO WOKINGHAM TOWN CENTRE
OUR VISION FOR THE FUTURE
INTRODUCTION
As we continue with our progress towards a regenerated town centre in Wokingham, we
recognise how important it is that those who come to work, shop and enjoy the benefits of
improved leisure and recreational facilities can do so easily, and that we offer choice about
how they can do this.
This Vision sets out how we intend to deliver this choice, recognising that whilst the car
remains the primary means of travel for many, increasingly our visitors may want to walk,
cycle, or use public transport. The Vision follows the principles set out in the Wokingham
Town Centre master plan and incorporates many of initiatives being brought forward
through the MyJourney project.
Our ambition is to provide an integrated approach to travelling to Wokingham Town Centre
which provides improved roads, cycle paths, footpaths, car parking and public transport so
that visiting Wokingham is a positive experience for all.
John Kaiser – Executive Member – Planning, Highways and Transport
OUR VISON
Our vision is to provide the travel opportunities that make Wokingham Town Centre the
destination of choice for our local residents, but also an attractive place to visit for those
coming from elsewhere.
The regeneration of Wokingham Town Centre is well underway. Our regenerated town
centre will deliver an improved offer for the growing number of residents in the borough, as
significant housing development takes place on the edges of the town centre, in both north
and south Wokingham.
In taking forward our town centre regeneration we have therefore modelled the demand for
car parking in the town centre to take account of this growth.
We have already planned for a range of improvements to how the town centre can be
accessed (and the pedestrian environment enhanced), some as part of the delivery of the
strategic development locations, but others will require more work, and may be longer term
ambitions. These improvements include making sustainable travel an easier option, for
example through our My Journey initiative, which encourages residents to travel by
alternative means to the car through public transport discounts, better cycle and pedestrian
access and other options.
This Vision sets out our opportunities for both.

TRAVELLING BY CAR
When travelling by car, visitors will be concerned about both the ease of the journey, and
where they can park their car when they arrive.
Improved traffic flows
We are investigating options for alternative routing around the town, and reviewing junction
control to reduce congestion. This includes:






Junction control at Shute End/Rectory Road
Circulatory changes at Rectory Road/Wiltshire Road
Re-allocating road space (specifically looking at the bus lane in the town centre)
Routing through traffic on to new distributor roads north and south of the town
Reviewing pedestrian crossings through the town

Car Parking
We need to ensure that car parking capacity across the town meets demand now and in the
future. Our planned car park provision is based on surveys of existing use, a demonstrable
under use of existing spaces, and consideration of development proposals for the town
centre and strategic development locations going forward to enable us to identify
a) changes proposed to current parking provision
b) the level of car parking demand given as a result of this new/re-development.
In addition, we have built in an assumption that in order for car parks to operate
successfully in practical terms we aim for our car parks to operate at 80 – 85% occupancy –
this allows for turnover, and car drivers looking for spaces within a car park.
Taking all of this into account gives rise to a need to an increased capacity at Carnival Pool
of between 260 – 375 spaces. For full details please see Appendix 1.
Park and Ride
Existing park and ride facilities only focus on Reading as a destination. As we improve
Wokingham Town Centre, we want to provide park and ride facilities here too. We are
therefore





Pursuing options for park and ride facilities at Coppid Beech, making use of existing
bus services.
Exploring the possibility of ‘micro-park and ride’ from our smaller car parks outside
of the town centre
Talking to bus operators about services from the Winnersh Park and Ride into
Wokingham Town.
Working with developers to improve services from the new strategic development
locations across the Borough

Civil Parking Enforcement – whilst we want to ensure that visiting Wokingham is a
positive experience, we must also take account of the needs of our existing residents. We
also need to address some bottle-necks, and safety issues raised by inconsiderate parking.
We are therefore considering introducing Civil Parking Enforcement to ensure that our
residential roads do not become unofficial car parks. As part of this we will be looking
options for how a Civil Parking Scheme could be operated.
TRAVELLING BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT
Train
Wokingham is easy to get to by rail with 8 trains an hour stopping off peak. This train
frequency will increase in the future, for example, as First Great Western enhances the
frequency of Reading to Gatwick Airport service.
We have a good facility with the new Wokingham Station building and footbridge, and much
easier vehicular access through the development of the Station Link Road. This includes
integrated bus facilities at the station making it easier to continue a journey from one means
of public transport to another.
We now need to focus on how we make it as easy as possible for those visiting Wokingham
by train/bus to travel into the town centre. This includes improved signage, better
footpaths, and opportunities for cyclists.
Bus
We are working with bus operators to improve services and facilities on offer and this has
already resulted in high quality modern buses operating on routes across the borough. This
also includes







Working with operators to introduce fare incentives and develop attractive routes
Better shelters – we are currently working on a new contract to provide a greater
number of good quality shelters
Up to date information – this is key to making bus travel a realistic choice for visitors
– we have begun and will continue to ensure that there is that there is improved
information at our bus stops, and better information available online. QR codes at
bus stops give access to live bus information and we are looking at further
technology improvements to help users.
We continue to support bus operators in bids to government for new buses, for
example the Low Emission Bus Scheme.
Working with bus and train operators and neighbouring authorities on the potential
for smart ticketing

TRAVELLING BY BICYCLE
Work is well underway to provide cycle access along the A329 corridor. In addition to this
we are ensuring, through the development of the strategic development locations that off-

road cycle paths that are safe for all link the new developments to the town centre. We are
also




Installing improved secure cycle parking facilities in the town centre, and at the
station
Exploring ways to extend cycle hire such as is already in existence in London and
Reading into Wokingham.
Developing a comprehensive network of greenways across the Borough that will
improve access between key Borough centres.

We will be looking at opportunities to engage with users more effectively and using them to
generate ideas for improving cycle facilities.
TRAVELLING ON FOOT
We understand the importance of ensuring safety for pedestrians as well as making walking
an enjoyable activity. We are therefore:





Providing high quality surfaced paths between all of the new developments, the
station and the town centre.
Improving foot crossings across the railway lines
Ensuring clearly signed, well-lit and pleasant pedestrian routes from our edge of
centre car parks into the town
Carrying out an environmental improvement programme in the town centre, making
it a much more attractive place for visitors as they travel around the town.

TECHNOLOGY
By improving our use of technology we can make it easier for people to choose how they
travel and make travelling easier. We are currently investigating opportunities to improve
how we disseminate travel data to residents on line such as car park space availability, bus
times and walking and cycle routes. We are also using technology to improve road junction
capacity.
LONGER TERM
We know that there is more to do, and opportunities that can be explored once some of the
major development is in place. These include:




Improving the wider environment as the South Wokingham Distributor Road takes
traffic out of town – this could include single lane traffic on Peach Street, and a
better pedestrian environment on Broad Street and Denmark Street.
Addressing common concerns about commercial activities such as on-street
deliveries to Peach Street

SUMMARY

This is an exciting time for Wokingham Town Centre. An integrated approach to transport is
central to ensuring that Wokingham becomes a destination of choice not only for our local
residents and but for visitors from further afield.
We will continue to review our approach as the regeneration of the town, and the
development of the strategic development locations move forward to ensure that we
maximise the opportunities to deliver our vision.

Appendix 1
Town Centre – Carnival Pool Car Park – Capacity Requirements
In order to inform the emerging proposals for the Carnival Pool scheme the Town Centre
Regeneration Team has requested that the Council’s Highways Service confirms and justifies
the capacity requirements for the new multi-story car park to ensure that it fulfils its
purpose as set out in the Town Centre Masterplan SPD. This note sets out that requirement
and justification.
To understand the capacity requirements for the rebuilt car park a study of Town Centre off
street parking has been undertaken. This has considered:

Existing car park utilisation
Studies of usage were undertaken in 2013 and 2014. The study in 2013 reviewed the
existing parking provision based on surveys undertaken between 7am and 7pm on Thursday
25th and Saturday 27th April 2013 at all off-street car parks within Wokingham Town
Centre. The car park surveys have been repeated in 2014 as part of an on-going monitoring
programme of parking demand and supply. The 2014 surveys were undertaken on Thursday
5th and Saturday 7th June 2014 between 7am and 7pm.
The surveys showed that the existing supply was 1886 spaces but that the car parks
operated with a significantly high level of spare capacity as shown in the following table:
Table 1 – Existing parking demand and capacity
2014 - Observed
Survey
Period

2026 - Predicted

Peak
Demand

Supply

Surplus at
peak

Peak
Demand

Supply

Surplus at
peak

Weekday

1274

1886

32%

1560

1897

18%

Weekend

987

1886

48%

1500

1897

21%

Known proposed changes to provision
The proposed changes to provision across the town have been advised by the Town Centre
Regeneration Team and set out in the following table:

Table 2 – Proposed Changes to Town Centre Parking Provision
Location

Spaces lost (-) or gained (+)

Existing car parking provision removed
The Paddocks

-212

Rose Street

-99

Wellington House

-81

Shute End (partial)

-53 (of 209)

New Parking Provision relating to the Town Centre redevelopment plans

90

New Parking Provided by enhanced Carnival Pool
public car park

529 (increase of 366)

NET POSITION

11 (1897 total)

This gives a known future car parking supply of 1897 spaces.
Forecast changes in demand for car parking in 2026
This has been derived using the Wokingham Strategic Transport Model (WSTM) which
provides the predicted parking demand during the AM peak hour for each car park in 2017
and 2026. The WSTM includes assumptions for growth in existing trips and allowance for
new trips associated with development proposals in Wokingham Borough. Account has been
taken of committed development, including the Strategic Development Locations and town
centre redevelopment proposals as specified in the Local Development Framework. The
impact of these proposals has been assessed using a set of trip rates representative of
typical development in the borough. In addition to these rates, allowance has been made for
changes in trip making behaviour associated with programmed Local Transport Plan
measures and changes in travel behaviour.
For the town centre redevelopment itself, the following typical elements of retail associated
trip making have not been taken into account:

for pass-by trips;

These factors may impact on the out-turn trip rates for town centre retail, however their
omission results in a robust assessment of parking accumulation for the town centre. The
demand for trips to car parks in the town centre is based on the peak hour of parking
demand for the busiest hour in the day.
This assessment has excluded the rail station car park as it is a dedicated facility that is
assumed will be close to capacity to accommodate rail based car parking.
Since the completion of the initial study in 2013 the proposals for the town centre
redevelopment has been reconsidered, particularly the element of the redevelopment
around Elms Road. Additional work has therefore been undertaken on the modelling work in
order to determine if the level of forecast car parking provision is affected.
The results of these tests have shown that the predictions previously made do not change
significantly and the recommendations arising from the previous study remain valid.
The assessment identified the expected car parking demand in 2026 to be 1560 spaces
during the week and 1500 spaces during the weekend.
Optimum utilisation rates
As set out above existing utilisation rates give rise to a significant level of under usage of
the existing car parking stock. It is likely that drivers are opting to park as close to the town
centre as possible, despite the fact that in most cases, this would result in an overall longer
journey time circulating the town centre thereby giving rise to more movements on the
network and increasing congestion.
However, for a car park to operate efficiently it is desirable to have some spare capacity so
as to enable visitors to find a space if required without having to spend significant time
circulating the car park or potentially having to go to a different car park, which could also
be full. Based on best practice elsewhere, it is proposed that the town centre car parks
should operate at approximately 80-85% occupancy level.
The proposals for car park spaces allow us to achieve this occupancy level based upon the
predicted demand.
Matt Davey
Head of Highways & Transport
Wokingham Borough Council
24 April 2015

TITLE

Care Act 2014 - Changes to Charging for Adult
Social Care Services

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 25 June 2015

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Stuart Rowbotham, Director of Health and Wellbeing

LEAD MEMBER

Julian McGhee-Sumner, Executive Member for
Health and Wellbeing

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The implementation of these new charges are aligned to the Council’s priorities of:




Offering excellent value for your Council Tax
Looking after the vulnerable
Improving health, wellbeing and quality of life

The proposed financial framework based on the principles of transparency and fairness
is in line with the Care Act 2014 currently being implemented by the Council.
RECOMMENDATION
That, further to the Government’s introduction of the Care Act 2014, the Executive
agrees to introduce new social care charges for social care customers in Wokingham
Borough. The Care Act requires the Council to review all of its charges for care services.
The recommendations set out at 1) to 4) below are consistent with current practice;
recommendation 5) is a new charge; and recommendation 6) updates current practice
to be Care Act compliant. The recommendations are as follows:
1) That, in accordance with current practice, the council does not set a maximum
charge for non-residential services;
2) That , in accordance with current practice, the council does not include any
further disregards within the financial
assessment other than those determined by the Department of Health;
3) that no charges for services provided to the carer will be introduced prior to April
2016 and then only by decision of the Executive;
4) that, in accordance with current practice, respite services continue to be treated
as being provided for the cared for person and not the carer;
5) That for new Self-funders an administration charge for non-residential services is
introduced from 1st July 2015. The charge to be £260 set up and £194 annually
thereafter (both amounts exclusive of VAT). However for existing customers the
effective date of the Annual charge will be 1st October 2015
6) That for Deferred Payment Agreements (DPA) effective from 1st July 2015:
a)
an administration charge is introduced to be £755 or £600 plus
disbursements at set up, and £261 or £172 plus disbursements annually
thereafter (both amounts exclusive of VAT); and
b)
an interest rate equivalent to the maximum set by the Department of
Health is applied to all new agreements; and

c)

d)
e)

f)

the Council set an equity review limit of 70% of the asset value. However
the Director of Health &Wellbeing could increase this to 80% as an
exception to be determined on a case by case basis; and
the only acceptable security should be property related; and
the Council set the maximum rental income that can be retained at 50%.
However the Director of Health &Wellbeing can increase this on an
exceptional basis; and
that the DPA policy at Appendix D is approved.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The legal framework for charging and financial assessment is now subject to the Care
Act 2014. This required the Council to review its current policies and consult upon a
revised Charging Framework in accordance with the Care Act 2014 and associated
regulations. The following section sets out the issues to be considered and options for
the Council.
Mandatory Changes to Existing Policy
The Care Act requires Local Authorities to develop and maintain a charging policy for
any care and support that is delivered in a non-residential care setting. In designing this
policy local authorities should consider the objectives of care and support charging and
how it can;
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

i)

ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably practicable for
them to pay;
be comprehensive, to reduce variation in the way people are assessed and
charged;
be clear and transparent, so people know what they will be charged;
promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of personalisation,
independence, choice and control;
support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to care
effectively and safely;
be person-focused, reflecting the variety of care and caring journeys and the
variety of options available to meet their needs;
apply the charging rules equally so those with similar needs or services are
treated the same and minimise anomalies between different care settings;
encourage and enable those who wish to stay in or take up employment,
education or training or plan for the future costs of meeting their needs to do
so; and
be sustainable for local authorities in the long-term.

Assessing the Maximum Amount to be Charged
The Care Act gives Local Authorities flexibility within the charging framework for Adult
Social Care services: in essence to operate a more generous policy. For example, the
Council may choose to disregard additional sources of income, set maximum charges,
or charge a person a percentage of their disposable income. The impact of applying a
further disregard would be to reduce the financial assessment which is the maximum
amount an individual can be asked to pay. This in turn may reduce the contribution an
individual is required to make thereby reducing the level of income available to the
Council.
The Care Act also gives discretion to the Council to set a maximum charge for non-

residential services which in effect would mean that those whose care package is above
this maximum and who are assessed as being able to fund this higher cost would be
subsidised.
The additional cost to the authority of adopting either of these options is not considered
to be a sustainable option for the Council in the medium term and would limit the
amount of care and support services the Council can provide to people in times of
reduced central government funding. It would also be inequitable in that some people
with the means to pay a higher contribution would not be required to do so and would be
contrary to the Council’s existing policy of non-subsidisation of services and full cost
recovery.
It is recommended that the council does not set a maximum charge for non-residential
services; and does not include any further disregards from the financial assessment
other than those determined by the Department of Health. This recommendation is
consistent with current practice. It should be noted that even though with above the
threshold of £23,250 in savings are charged the full cost of non-residential care, this still
represents a better position than residential care, which would also include the value of
the person’s home in the mean test.
New Care Act Charges
Carers
The Care Act brings in, for the first time, a legal duty to provide services for Carers with
eligible needs. It is recommended by the Department of Health that councils consider
and consult on charging for these services. To date the council has not charged for
services provided to carers.
It is recommended that the policy of the Council is that no charges for services
provided to the carer will be introduced prior to April 2016 and then only by decision of
the Executive. The increase in the cost of carers services will be closely monitored and
charges will only be recommended if the costs have a significant impact on the Council’s
finances
It is further recommended that respite services continue to be treated as being
provided for the cared for person and not the carer. This recommendation is consistent
with current practice.

Self-Funding residents
The Care Act enables the council to recover its costs when supporting clients who are
able to fully fund their own care needs but either lack the capacity to do so or their
wealth is locked into a realisable asset not presently available to them.
These charges relate to:




Deferred Payment Agreement administration charges
Deferred Payment Agreement interest rate
Self-funder administration charge for non-residential services

It is recommended that the Council introduces a charging policy to reflect this support
from 1st July 2015.
However the council currently supports a number of self-funding clients receiving non-

residential care services. To introduce a charge without the opportunity of a family
member/carer (or equivalent) to determine whether they wish to continue to be
supported in this way and pay a charge, or make alternative arrangements, is
considered to be unreasonable. It is therefore recommended that for existing
customers the charge is applied from 1st October 2015.
Deferred Payment Agreement Equity limit
The Care Act sets an equity limit representing the maximum debt that can be held
against an asset, usually a property. This is defined as the property value, minus 10%,
minus a further £14,250. It is then for the Council to determine when a detailed review of
the case will take place should the value of debt reach a certain percentage of the equity
limit.
It is recommended that the Council set the equity review limit at 70% of the asset
value. However the Director of Health & Wellbeing could increase this to 80% as an
exception to be determined on a case by case basis.

Background
The Care Act - New Charges
The Care Act introduces scope for local authorities to increase the number of services
that can be charged for. These are not mandatory, and it is for each council to
determine whether to charge for specific services or not, and, within laid out parameters,
what those charges could be.
As there are choices for the council, the Executive is asked to agree the proposals put
forward in terms of new charges.
The services listed below have been provided free and the Care Act does not change
this; they are:
a) Intermediate care, including reablement, which must be provided free of charge
for up to six weeks. However, local authorities must have regard to the
preventative support set out in Chapter 2 of the Care Act guidance. This sets out
that neither should have a strict time limit but should reflect the needs of the
person. The council can apply discretion to offer this free of charge for longer
than six weeks where there are clear preventative benefits, such as when a
person has recently become visually impaired.
b) Community equipment (aids and minor adaptations). These must be provided
free of charge whether provided to meet or prevent / delay needs. A minor
adaptation is one costing £1,000 or less.
c) Care and support provided to people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease.
d) After-care services / support provided under s117 of the Mental Health Act 1983.
e) Any service or part of service which the NHS is under a duty to provide. This
includes Continuing Healthcare and the NHS contribution to Registered Nursing
Care.
f) More broadly, any services which a local authority is under a duty to provide
through other legislation may not be charged for under the Care Act 2014.
g) Assessment of needs and care planning may also not be charged for, since these
processes do not constitute “meeting needs”.
Outcome of Consultation
Appendix A sets out the questions asked and at Appendix B can be found the
accompanying leaflet. The consultation was agreed at the 29th January 2015 Executive,
started on 3rd February and closed on 5th May 2015. The information was only available
on line but printed copies were available on request. Notice of the consultation was sent
by letter to all existing adult social care customers affected by the proposed charges, by
email to partnership boards and customers groups, all adult social care suppliers, third
sector and partner organisations. In addition a media notice was issued and information
about the consultation was included in the March edition of Wokingham Borough News
which is delivered to approx. 63,000 households in the Borough.
The number of questionnaires completed totalled 20; a detailed analysis can be found at
Appendix C.
Carers
A decision is required whether or not the Council charges carers who can afford to pay
for the cost of the service provided; or provide support to carers free of charge. Due to

the significant variation in potential numbers (as set out below) and costs, it is therefore
difficult to estimate a cost to the council. The current average cost per carer is in the
region of £1,700 per annum. However for budget planning purposes the working
assumption is an increase of 330 carers at a part year cost for 2015/16 of £400k
including assessment and increased support to the 3rd sector.
The Department of Health grant announced on 18th December 2014 that Wokingham
will receive £93k funding for the carers element. However it should be noted that funding
for the Care Act is received from several grants and taking the position as a whole and
excluding the change in eligibility, the position for Wokingham is broadly breakeven.
Where care and support services are provided directly to an adult with care needs as a
result of their carer’s eligible needs, the care and support provided directly to that
individual must not be charged to the carer, but to the individual receiving the care. In
those cases, the financial assessment policy for non-residential charging would apply to
that individual. Typically these services relate to respite care and it is recommended
that respite services continue to be treated as being provided for the cared for person
and not the carer. From April 2015, carers are entitled to new services such as help with
housework and gardening. These new services come with a potential high cost to the
Council.
There is little hard information available to estimate the likely impact of these changes
for Carers on council finances. The council directly supports 616 carers and Berkshire
Carers have 620 recorded and are in active contact with approx. 250, whilst Crossroads
have 310. However it is not known at this time what proportion are known to all three
organisations.
It is known that 1,140 residents receive Carers Allowance and the 2011 census shows
that 13,902 residents identified themselves as Carers. Of this group 2,315 state they are
providing in excess of 50 hours per week unpaid care (of whom 28 are aged under 24);
1,397 between 20 and 49 hours per week (82 aged under 24); and 10,190 at less than
20 hours per week. The number of young carers supported is 14 although the census
suggests that this could be as high as 110.
There is a risk that if the council were to apply charges, it may be one of only a handful
of local authorities that charge carers. However, there is also a risk of an adverse impact
on the Council’s finances if carers are not charged for their services and the impact of
the increased access to carers services will be closely monitored.
Should the Council decide to charge (subject to a financial assessment) then there is a
risk of an increase in demand for care services (and potentially increased cost) from the
Council should the current carers withdraw their support.
It is recommended that no charges be introduced prior to April 2016 and then only by
decision of the Executive.
Universal Deferred Payment Arrangements (DPA)
The Care Act establishes a universal deferred payment scheme meaning that people
should not be forced to sell their home in their lifetime to pay for their care. By entering
into a deferred payment agreement, a person can ‘defer’ or delay paying the costs of
their care and support until a later date. Deferring payment can help people to delay the
need to sell their home, and provides peace of mind during a time that can be

challenging (or even a crisis point) for them and their loved ones as they make the
transition into care.
The council currently operates a deferred payment scheme albeit take up has
traditionally been very low. Although the eligibility criteria for the universal scheme are
the same as that currently applied by the council, the Care Act guidance encourages
councils to consider a wider eligibility criteria to include:
(a) whether meeting care costs would leave someone with very few accessible assets
(this might include assets which cannot quickly / easily be liquidated or converted
to cash);
(b) if someone would like to use wealth tied up in their home to fund more than just
their core care costs and purchase affordable top-ups
(c) whether someone has any other accessible means to help them meet the cost of
their care and support; and / or
(d) if a person is narrowly not entitled to a deferred payment agreement given the
criteria above, for example because they have slightly more than the £23,250
asset threshold. This should include people who are likely to meet the criteria in
the near future.
The council could extend this criteria at its discretion to include people moving into
supported living or extra care arrangements which formed part of the consultation. Until
the full financial impact of the new statutory scheme is known it is not proposed to
extend the scheme in this way. The eligibility criteria proposed in the policy document
(section 5 of Appendix D) are:







Has capital of less than £23,250. Capital includes savings and other non-housing
assets, excluding the value of the person’s main home;
Where the main home is taken into account as part of the financial assessment
and not disregarded in accordance with Section 17 of the Care Act 2014
The person must have capacity to enter into a deferred payment agreement, or
must have a Deputy or Attorney (a person with a relevant Enduring Power of
Attorney or Lasting Power of Attorney) to act on their behalf, or have someone
who is their deputy appointed by the Court of Protection.
The person must agree to all the terms and conditions in the deferred payment
agreement.
The Council must be able to secure a first charge against the persons property.

Although the Care Act guidance sets out how the scheme should function and the
minimum eligibility conditions, the council has discretion to charge for administration and
set an interest rate. The council must also determine an equity limit as set out in the
Care Act guidance. This states that where a property is used as security to offer a
deferred payment agreement, the equity limit must be set at the value of the property
minus ten percent, minus £14,250 (for financial year 2015/16, this is in line with the
lower capital limit) and the amount of encumbrance already secured on it. This limit
provides some protection to local authorities against changes in the value of the security
(such as possible house price fluctuations) and the risk that they may not be able to
recoup the full amount owed, but also should mean that people qualify for local authority
support if they deplete the equity available in their property (and are consequently not at
risk of having to sell their home to pay for care).
Although the current DPA policy is Care Act compliant at its most basic level it does not

include the matters that this report addresses as recommended by the Care Act
guidance. It is recommended that the Executive approve the DPA policy set out at
Appendix D.
Deferred Payment Agreement Security:
The new scheme regulations enable a council to accept as security assets other than a
property, such as art or other valuable objects. However at this juncture Officers
recommend that the only security acceptable to the council should be property related.
As more experience of the new scheme becomes known amongst councils this will be
kept under review and may be revisited in the future.
Local authorities should, when someone is approaching or reaches the point at which
they have deferred 70% of the value of their chosen security, review the cost of their
care with the person, discuss when the person might be eligible for any means tested
support, discuss the implications for any top-up they might currently have, and consider
jointly whether a deferred payment agreement continues to be the best way for
someone to meet these costs.
It is recommended that the Council sets the equity review limit at 70% of the asset
value. However in consultation and agreement of the Director of Health &Wellbeing this
could be increased to 80% as an exception to be determined on a case by case basis.
Property subject to DPA
The Care Act encourages councils to consider offering incentives for a property subject
to a DPA to be rented although it remains the individuals decision. In this respect the
Council can allow up to 50% of the rental income to be retained by the individual
although this will increase the amount deferred and interest applied. The Council could
also offer other incentives to encourage the use of a potentially otherwise empty
property. There are no other proposals to offer additional incentives for a DPA property
to be rented.
It is recommended that the Council set the maximum rental income that can be
retained at 50%. However the Director of Health &Wellbeing can increase this on an
exceptional basis.
Administration and Interest charges
The Council cannot currently charge for administering the scheme or charge interest
(except to the estate) but from April 2015 it is possible to charge for both.
The Care Act guidance confirms that the deferred payment agreement scheme is
intended to be run on a cost-neutral basis. The council will be able to recoup the costs
associated with deferring fees by charging interest. It can also recoup the administrative
costs associated with DPA’s, including legal and ongoing running costs, via
administration charges which can be passed on to the individual. Administration charges
and interest can be added on to the total amount deferred as they are accrued, although
a person may request to pay these separately if they choose. The agreement must
make clear that all fees deferred, alongside any interest and administrative charges
incurred, must be repaid by the person in full. The council must notify the individual in
writing whenever they are liable for an administration charge.
The council has the ability (from April 2015) to charge interest on new DPA's for any
amount deferred, including any administration charge deferred; existing DPA's are
unaffected by these changes. These new charges are to cover the cost of lending and

the risks to the council associated with that lending, e.g. risk of default. Where interest is
charged it must not exceed the maximum amount specified in regulations. The council
may (but is not required to) charge the nationally set maximum interest rate. The same
interest rate must be charged on all deferred payments within a local authority unless
the debt is subject to court action, when the interest rate set by the court will prevail.
The national maximum interest rate will change every six months on the 1st January and
1st July to track the market gilts rate specified in the most recently published report by
the Office of Budget Responsibility, it is currently set at 2.65%. The interest charged and
added to the deferred amount will be compounded, and local authorities should ensure
when making the agreement that individuals understand that interest will accrue on a
compound basis.
Local authorities must set their administration charge at a reasonable level, and this
level must not be more than the actual costs incurred by the council in provision of the
DPA Scheme, as set out in regulations. Relevant costs may include (but are not limited
to) the costs incurred whilst:
a) registering a legal charge with the Land Registry against the title of the property,
including Land Registry search charges and any identity checks required;
b) undertaking relevant postage, printing and telecommunications;
c) costs of time spent by those providing the service;
d) cost of valuation and re-valuation of the property;
e) costs for removal of charges against property;
f) overheads, including where appropriate (shares of) payroll, audit, management
costs, legal service.
The Council should maintain a publicly-available list of administration charges that a
person may be liable to pay. It is good practice to separate charges into a fixed set-up
fee for the DPA, reflective of the costs incurred by the council in setting up and securing
a typical DPA, and other reasonable one-time fees during the course of the agreement
(reflecting actual charges incurred in the course of the agreement).
An exercise has been undertaken to establish the likely costs and these are set out at
Appendix E. The table below shows the proposed fee and the illustrative fee used in the
leaflet accompanying the consultation (see Appendix B). Without knowing likely
volumes, these costs are difficult to gauge and will therefore be reviewed when the
2016/17 fees and charges are set at February 2016 Executive.
Service

Set Up
Fee

Annual
Charge

Proposed Fee for DPA including
arrangement Fees for Care Services
(excluding disbursements)

£755

£261

Proposed Fee for DPA excluding
arrangement Fees for Care Services
(excluding disbursements)

£600

£172

Illustrative Fee used in leaflet for DPA
(excluding disbursements)

£900

£300

Disbursements may include (but are not limited) to:
Search fees;
Registering a legal charge with the Land Registry against the title of
the property;
Cost of professional valuation of a property;
Building or structural survey;
Insurance (if arranging on customers behalf).
The Annual charge represents the expected cost of maintaining the DPA account;
providing 6 monthly statements of account; and arranging property valuations. With
regard to property valuations the council reserves the right to use professional valuers
should it deem it to be necessary and will recharge any fee to the customer as a
disbursement.
A deduction equal to the set up and ongoing charge for care management support as
shown in “Arrangement Fees for Care Services” (see appendix E) would not be
chargeable if a DPA customer chose to arrange their own care services.
It is recommended that the Council set an interest rate up to the maximum advised;
and set administration charges as set out in the table above.
Self-funder arrangement fee for non-residential services
The regulations permit local authorities to charge an administration fee in the case of a
person who has eligible needs but whose assets exceed the upper capital limit. People
in these circumstances are not entitled to receive any financial assistance from the local
authority and may pay the full cost of their care and support until their capital falls below
the upper capital limit. They may now ask the local authority to arrange their care and
support for them.
At the present time there are approx. 40 customers who are self-funded but where Adult
Social Care are providing support to arrange, pay for, and then invoice the customer for
the care services arranged. To introduce an immediate charge without the opportunity of
a family member/carer (or equivalent) to determine whether they wish to continue to be
supported in this way and pay a charge, or make alternative arrangements, is
considered to be unreasonable. It is therefore recommended that for existing
customers the Annual charge is applied from 1st October 2015.
An exercise has been undertaken to establish the likely costs and these are set out at
Appendix E. The table below shows the proposed fee and the illustrative fee used in the
leaflet accompanying the consultation (see Appendix B). Without knowing likely
volumes, these costs are difficult to gauge and will therefore be reviewed when the
2016/17 fees and charges are set at February 2016 Executive.
Service

Set Up fee

Annual
Charge

Proposed fee for Self-funding support
(non-residential care)

£260

£194

Illustrative Fee used in leaflet for Selffunding support (non-residential care)

£550

£300

It is recommended that the Council sets administration fees for arranging care and
support for self funders as set out in the above table. However for existing self-funding
customers these charges will not take effect until 1st October 2015.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost / (Save)
Current Financial
Year (2015/16)
Next Financial Year
(2016/17)
Following Financial
Year (2017/18)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?
Revenue

The charges are intended to recover costs
and should therefore be cost neutral.

Revenue
Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
Should the Executive make the decision to implement these new charges, excluding
any charges for carers, then the Council would receive income from residents who are,
or who can, fully fund the cost of these and their care services.
The objective of the charges when set will be to ensure as far as possible that all related
costs are fully recovered. The impact on customers and finances will be reviewed both
during and post-implementation of the new charging policy.
Cross-Council Implications
The introduction of these charges will have an impact on the Welfare Benefit team who
will be undertaking financial assessments, this work and the Finance Support Team
who process and pay the service provider invoices and the Accounts Receivable Team
who collect client contributions to service costs.
List of Background Papers
Report to Executive, 29th January 20151
Care Act 2014, Care & Support statutory guidance2
Care Act 2014, Negative regulations3
Care Act 2014, Affirmative regulations4
1

http://wokingham.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201501291930/Agenda/348103.pdf

2

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366104/43380_23902777_
Care_Act_Book.pdf
3

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/376204/2903119_Care_Act
_Negative_Regulations_Master.pdf
4

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366048/43738_2902999_R
egs_Affirmative_Accessible.pdf

Contact Steve Cross

Service Finance & Resources

Telephone No 0118 974 8315

Email steve.cross@wokingham.gov.uk

Date 15 June 2015 2015

Version No. 06

Appendix A

Appendix B

Appendix C
Analysis of Consultation

Responses5

Section 1.a - People who fund the full cost of their own care and support (self
funder) that are best met in their OWN home.
If you pay the full cost for care and support in your own home, you will be able to ask us
to arrange these services for you. Under Care Act changes, we can charge an
administration fee to set that care up and charge annually afterwards. We haven’t
decided how to do this yet. To help us we want to know how you might use our service
for:
Q1
Personalised information and advice about the types of services that could meet
someone’s needs?
Q2

Support to prepare a plan of how best to meet care and support needs?

Q3
Someone who could discuss your requirements directly with the provider(s) and
agree the amount of care to be offered and the price?
Q4
Arranging care and support with the provider directly e.g. contracting on your
behalf?

5

Each illustration shows the number of responses to each question

We’re intending to charge for this but it would not cost you more than it costs the
Council to provide. Therefore:
Q5
As a self-funder, would you still access this type of service if Wokingham
Borough Council charged?
Q6
Do you think the Council should charge self-funders a set up charge, if they
arrange care and support services on their behalf?

Q7
Do you think the Council should charge self-funders an annual charge, if they
arrange care and support services on their behalf?

Q8a

Which of these should we include in the proposed set up charge?

Q8b

Which of these should we include in the proposed annual charge?

Q9
We haven’t decided how we will support those of you who fund your own care.
We could use council staff and/or other specialist organisations. Which would you
prefer?
9a)

I would prefer to be supported by Council staff

9b)

I would prefer to be supported by specialist organisations within the community

Section 1.b - People who fund their own care and have needs that are best met in
a RESIDENTIAL or NURSING care home. We will offer information and advice to
people on where their needs can be met in a residential care home. What information
would be useful to you when making decisions about residential care?
Q10 What kind of information would be helpful for you in making a decision about the
right residential home?

Q11

Which format would you prefer this information in?

SECTION TWO - Universal Deferred Payments
Q14 Under Care Act changes, deferred payments will be more widely available
however it will cost us more money to run. New rules will mean we can charge an
administration fee to set up this process and charge annually afterwards to cover costs
for running it.
14a) Do you think that the Council should charge a fee to recover the administration
costs of setting up each Deferred Payment Agreement under the new Universal
Deferred Payments Scheme?
14b) Do you think that the Council should charge an annual fee to recover the ongoing
administration costs of monitoring each Universal Deferred Payment Agreement?

Q15 We can charge interest on the deferred amount which would allow us to support
more people. Government will set a national maximum rate to charge but we can set
our rate lower. Government rates are based on the cost of government borrowing and
could change every six months. Do you think the Council should use the maximum
interest rate set by the government for deferred payments, or a lower rate?
Q16 In exceptional circumstances we could set up a deferred payment agreement for
those people who are unable to immediately pay the full costs for Extra Care Housing or
Supported Living Accommodation.

Q17 In order to agree a deferred payment option, we always need to ensure that the
final debt will be fully repaid. This is usually secured against a property and we would
regularly review its value. Under proposals, 70% of the value of the property is the
maximum you would pay back but in exceptional circumstances it could be increased to
80%
17a) Do you agree that the maximum amount deferred should be limited to 70% of the
asset value?
17b) Do you agree that in exceptional circumstances the maximum amount deferred
can be 80% of the asset value?

SECTION THREE - Carers
Q18 Do you think you would be likely to need independent advocacy to take part in a
carer’s assessment or review in future?
Q19 Often the best way to support a carer is through the services of the person they
care for such as a lunch club which allows the carer a break or by support groups,
education and employment opportunities and recreational activities - to name just a few.
Most services are not free and social care customers are asked to pay as much as you
can afford. We can apply the same rules to carers too. Do you think Wokingham
Borough Council should continue to offer services provided directly to carers free of
charge?

Q20 We want to continue to offer these services free of charge, however more carers
may need support than our funding can cover. If this is the case, we may have to
charge for carers’ services. In these circumstances would you support the introduction
of a charge applied only to those carers who have savings in excess of the Department
of Health ‘upper limit’ which is currently £23,250?

SECTION FOUR - Setting the maximum amount you will pay for care that is best
met in your own home
The Care Act gives the Council discretion to set a maximum charge for those receiving
services in their own home, for example this could be 90% of the usual residential care
rate. This would mean that everyone whose care package cost is above this rate would
be subsidised even if they have means to fund it. The additional cost to the Council of
setting a maximum charge is not considered to be a sustainable option for the Council
Furthermore, the Care Act gives the Council the flexibility to reduce the maximum
assessed charge by applying a further reduction of, for example, 10%. This would mean
that anyone whose care package cost is above this lower maximum charge would be
subsidised. The additional cost to the authority of applying such a % reduction is also
not considered to be a sustainable option for the Council and would limit the amount of
care and support services the Council can provide to people in times of reduced central
government funding.
Q21 Do you agree that Wokingham Borough Council should NOT set a maximum
charge?
Q22 Do you agree that Wokingham Borough Council should continue to charge the
maximum assessed charge?

Comments received:
Section 1b - People who fund their own care and have needs that are best met in a
RESIDENTIAL or NURSING care home
Q10a What kind of information would be helpful for you in making a decision about the
right residential home?
1. copy of residential home's "Policies and Procedures".
2. The split between permanent and agency staff and the turnover of employees.
3. Person centred approaches and care values of the organisation

Q11a Which format would you prefer this information in?
1. Ensure "easy read" version available.

Q12 Is there anything else we should consider in relation to the support services for
those who pay for their own care?
1. Safeguarding
2. Ability to amend and change care packages as needs change
3. Council tax is paid for all services, no extra charges should be made.

Q13 Is there anything else we should consider when applying this proposal to existing
self-funders whose services are currently arranged by the Council?
1. Safeguarding
2. Council tax is paid for all services, no extra charges should be made.

Section 4 - Setting the maximum amount you will pay for care that is best met in your
own home
Q23

Do you have any other comments?
1. these questions are very complicated and difficult to understand.
2. My mother's care is self-funded but my step-father is so anxious about retaining enough
savings to cover residential care when the time comes that he refuses to arrange the
care at home they so desperately need. He does, however, use free services (such as
the two hour per week sitting allowance), without which they would be in a far worse
situation. It is helpful for advice and support to be free to everyone, even when the
care recommended is self-funded. Without that support and encouragement to arrange
paid care, he would not even know what is available because he would refuse to pay for
the consultation. This is an on-going battle with an old-fashioned, 'careful' with money
older gentleman and I'm sure our situation is not unique.
3. I feel that I would only purchase care through the councils commissioning team if they
improved their focuse on personal outcomes for people while balancing cots. At the
moment care commissioned by the councils seems to be inadequate and below what I
would want to purchase for myself. So I would probably sort out my own care
4. These comments relate to the suggestion that Carers may be charged for support given
to them to assist them in their Caring Role. 1) A trivial point really, but let us be sure
what we are talking about. In your Consultation Paper the second item in the block
headed “Please give us your views on:” requests views on the statement “support for
carers and whether carers should be charged for their services (if they can afford to
pay)”. In fact you are not proposing to charge carers for “their” services (if anything you
should be paying them for their services); what you are suggesting is to charge them for
services that you may provide to them. 2) Before considering charging Carers for the

support they need to assist them in their Caring Role you should consider the costs that
they are saving you. Without their help you would need to give far greater support to
the Cared for Person, possibly even to the extent of supporting them in a Care Home.
Carers are always being told how valuable they are and how much they save the NHS
and Social Services; this is your chance to show that you really mean it. 3) You should
note that the Carers are often already sacrificing themselves from the point of view of
time dedicated to the Caring Role, money lost through lost work opportunities, and
even losses to their own pension arrangements. They carry out this role (often on a
24/7 basis with no end in sight and with no breaks) for a variety of reasons, but basically
out of the sheer goodness of their hearts. You are now suggesting that you should
charge them for this “privilege”. This is a disgrace. 4) By now you will have realised that
I am totally opposed to the idea of charging Carers for any support they need to help
them in their caring role. In fact I think it shows a distinct lack of understanding of the
problems that Carers face and consider it rather ignominious that the idea should even
have been suggested. I suggest that you drop the idea immediately.
5. Carers save the Council and central Government millions of pounds every year. It's all
very well for the Council to talk about 'free' benefits for carers such as lunch clubs but
often carers are too stressed and time pressed to take advantage of them and are
concerned about leaving the person they care for alone. To support Carers more
effectively there needs to be better provision whereby those that are cared for can be
looked after for a few hours each week at little or no cost. There should also be a lot
more funding for respite care e.g. Sue Ryder so that Carers can be given proper breaks
on a more regular basis.
6. All cost should be covered by council tax,if you going to charge for care cost,why should
we pay council tax?Why not cancel the bus pass to save money? Why not charge
children for attending school?Stop using our council tax for your pensions.

Appendix D

Wokingham Borough Council Deferred Payments Scheme
1. Background
1.1

The Care Act 2014 establishes a universal deferred payment scheme, which means that from 1 st
April 2015 people may not need to sell their home in their lifetime to pay for the costs of care. A
deferred payment agreement is a way of deferring the costs of care against a property which is the
person’s main home. It is effectively a loan against the value of the property.

1.2

From 1st April 2015, all Councils in England are required to provide a deferred payment scheme for
local residents who go to live in residential or nursing care, own a property and have other assets
(capital and savings) below a certain amount. The new scheme has national eligibility criteria which
replace the Council’s existing eligibility criteria for deferred payments. However, these changes will
not apply to any existing deferred payment agreements that were agreed on or before 31st March
2015.

1.3

Local authorities are required to follow new national guidance on the eligibility criteria for a deferred
payment. There is some local discretion allowed on how the scheme will be implemented. Where
such discretion has been considered, it is highlighted in the relevant sections below.

1.4

This paper sets out set out the framework for Wokingham Borough Council’s Deferred Payments
Scheme from 1st April 2015. This framework takes into account the main changes introduced by
the Care Act 2014 and the statutory guidance published by the Department of Health.

1.5

For further information about the Care Act and deferred payments please see:
www.careandsupportregs.dh.gov.uk
www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-part-1-factsheets

2. Universal Deferred Payments (from 1st April 2015)
2.1.

Under the Care Act 2014, all Councils will have a deferred payment scheme which includes:
• A set of national eligibility criteria on entitlement
• Allows Councils to charge interest and administrative fees to offset the costs of the scheme
• Retains some local discretion, for example the amount of charges that can be deferred

3. Scheme Principles
3.1

The principles underpinning the scheme are:
• To ensure that those who have been assessed as needing care may not need to sell their
property to pay for that care
• That those who can afford to pay a contribution towards their care should do so

• To ensure that residents are fully informed about deferred payments and eligibility
• That the scheme is self-financing and sustainable
3.2

The Council’s deferred payments scheme has been written in accordance with statutory guidance
and regulations, including:
• Sections 34-36, the Care Act 2014
• The Care & Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014
• Chapter 9, the Care & Support Statutory Guidance
This scheme will be updated in line with any subsequent changes to the legislation or guidance.

4. Services covered by this scheme
4.1

The scheme covers residential and nursing care services only. Access to the deferred payment
scheme is available to people who have local authority arranged care and people who arrange for
and pay for their own care.

4.2

In order for a deferred payment agreement to be considered, a persons needs for care and support
must be met, or are going to be met, under section 18 or section 19(1) or (2) of the Care Act 2014
and the care and support plan under section 25 of the Care Act 2014 must show that the Council is
going to meet those needs by the provision of accommodation in a Care Home. The term “Care
Home” is defined in the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014.

4.3

If the person has arranged for their own placement in a Care Home, the Council must be satisfied
that had it been asked to meet those needs it would have done so in accordance with 4.2 above.

.5. Eligibility for a deferred payment
5.1

The Council must offer a deferred payment where the person receiving eligible care meets the
following eligibility criteria and is able to provide adequate security for the deferred payment:
• Has capital of less than £23,250. Capital includes savings and other non-housing assets,
excluding the value of the person’s main home;
• Where the main home is taken into account as part of the financial assessment and not
disregarded in accordance with Section 17 of the Care Act 2014 (see section 6 below).

5.2

The person must have capacity to enter into a deferred payment agreement, or must have a
Deputy or Attorney ( a person with a relevant Enduring Power of Attorney or Lasting Power of
Attorney) to act on their behalf, or have someone who is their deputy appointed by the Court of
Protection.

5.3

The person must agree to all the terms and conditions in the deferred payment agreement.

5.4

The Council must be able to secure a first charge against the persons property.

5.5

Where the qualifying person is eligible for a deferred payment the local authority may exercise
discretion to refuse a deferred payment where for example:

• The Council is unable to secure a charge on the property
• The property is uninsurable
• Where someone wants to defer more than they can provide adequate security for (see also
section 7 - How much can be deferred)
5.6

There may also be circumstances when the Council decides not to continue with a Deferred
Payment Agreement, for example:
• The person has reached the upper limit (see section 7 – How much can be deferred)
• Where in some limited circumstances a spouse or dependent relative moves into the property
after the Deferred Payment Agreement is in place.
• Where the qualifying person receiving eligible care becomes entitled to an automatic disregard of
the property; for example, through a change of circumstances of the person living in the property.

6. The 12 week property disregard
6.1

Where a person has been assessed as having eligible care needs and owns a property, during the
first 12 weeks stay in residential accommodation, the capital value of the property is disregarded.

6.2

After 12 weeks, unless there is statutory disregard of the property, the property is taken into
account as a capital resource. A statutory disregard will apply where, for example, the property is
occupied by a spouse, partner, or close relative who is incapacitated or aged 60 or over.

6.3

During this 12 week period the Council will provide advice and information about deferred
payments. Advice and information will include, as appropriate, referring the person or their carer for
independent financial advice. Advice and information about deferred payments will be available in
a variety of mediums, for example through leaflets and via the Councils website.

7. How much can be deferred
7.1

The Council will defer actual residential or nursing care costs, determined in accordance with
statutory guidance. This would normally mean the actual cost of residential or nursing care less
any financially assessed contribution.

7.2

Under the Department of Health statutory guidance there is a maximum amount that a person can
defer as a loan against the value of the property that they own. This is called the Equity Limit. This
is defined as the property value, minus 10%, minus a further £14,250. It is then for the Council to
determine when a detailed review of the case will take place should the value of debt reach a
certain percentage of the equity limit. The Council has set the equity review limit at 70% of the
asset value.

7.3

Where the deferred amount reaches a level where it is likely to exceed the ‘review limit,’ the
Council has discretion on a case by case basis to exceed this amount. This discretion can be
exercised in cases where, for example, refusal of a deferred payment will cause severe hardship or
because the person does not have sufficient other assets or income to pay for care costs without

selling their property. The Director of Health &Wellbeing could increase the review limit to 80% as
an exception to be determined on a case by case basis.

8. Assessment of Applications
8.1

All applicants for a deferred payment agreement must fully complete the Council’s designated
application form.

8.2

When assessing applications for a Deferred Payment the Council will have regard to the
sustainability of the deferred payment. In addition to the LTV ratio, the Council will have regard to
the following when deciding this:
• The likely duration of the deferred payment agreement
• The level of equity available in the property
• Contributions which may be made from a person’s savings or other assets
• The period of time a person would be able to defer weekly care costs

9. Obtaining Security
9.1

The Council is required to have adequate security in place when deciding whether a person is
entitled to a deferred payment. The onus is on the person applying for a deferred payment
agreement, or their representative, to provide evidence that they are able to give the Council
adequate security. Where the person owns a property this security will usually be in the form of a
legal charge on the property. In cases of jointly owned properties the Council will require all of the
owners’ agreement to the charge being registered against the property.

9.2

There is a discretion within the statutory scheme that allows the Council to accept other forms of
security. This discretion will not be offered.

10. Administration fees and interest charges
10.1

The Care Act allows the Council to charge an administration fee for arranging the deferred
payment agreement. There will also be an on-going administration fee which becomes payable
during the course of the Deferred Payment Agreement as it is reviewed on an annual basis. This
fee can also be deferred. Administration fees are the actual costs of providing a deferred payment
agreement, including:
• The costs of registering a charge with the Land Registry, including any Land Registry searches
• The costs of valuing, and any re-valuation of the property
• Staffing, management and legal costs

10.2

The Care Act also allows the Council to charge interest on the deferred payment amount. Interest
rate charges cannot exceed the maximum amount as set by legislation. The Council will charge
interest on all deferred amounts under the agreement using the rates set by Government from time
to time to help ensure that the overall scheme is cost neutral to the Council.

10.3

All administration charges and fees will be clearly set out within the Deferred Payment Agreement.
Fees and charges will be set at a level to ensure that they only cover the actual cost of providing a
deferred payment.

10.4

A schedule of deferred payment agreement fees and charges will be publicly available on the
Council’s website. This will enable the person applying for a deferred payment full transparency on
the costs of the scheme and to enable the person or their carer to plan for the costs of care.

10.5

All charges and interest due can be included in the deferred payment agreement and do not need
to be paid separately.

11. Property valuation
11.1

Under the deferred payment scheme the Council will arrange for a valuation of the property against
which payments will be deferred. The person applying for the deferred payment agreement will
also be entitled to request an independent valuation of the property. This would be separate to the
Council’s own valuation.

11.2

Any costs for the Council valuations must be paid for by the deferred payment agreement applicant
or their representative. If the deferred payment is approved, the cost can be included in the
Deferred Payment Agreement.

11.3

The Council will not contribute to the cost of any independent valuations that may be arranged.

11.4

The valuation of the property will be periodically reviewed during the lifetime of the Deferred
Payment Agreement to ensure that the upper limit is not exceeded.

11.5

Any disputes about the property valuation will be dealt with under the review and appeals
procedure (see section 19 Review and Appeals Procedure)

12. Deferred Payment Agreement
12.1

When applying for a deferred payment, all successful applicants will be required to sign a formal
Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA) with the Council. The Council can enter into an Agreement
with residents who are the owner(s) of a property, or their representative who holds a Power of
Attorney or a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection, providing all of the application
conditions as described in this scheme are fulfilled.

12.2

The Deferred Payment Agreement will set out, amongst other things, the following terms:
• The care charges covered by the agreement;
• Interest charges and administration fees applying to the agreement;
• Details of the property charge;
• The maximum amount of charges that can be deferred;
• Circumstances on which the Council can refuse to pay any more care fees;
• How the agreement can be ended;

• How problems should be resolved if either party feels the terms of the agreement have been
broken.

13. Conditions of entering into a Deferred Payment Agreement
13.1

The Deferred Payment Agreement shall only take effect upon the formal signing of the Agreement.
A certified copy of the appointment of a Power of Attorney or order from the Court of Protection
appointing a Deputy will be accepted as evidence of authorisation to sign on behalf of the
applicant.

13.2

The person entering into the Deferred Payment Agreement will also be required to abide by a
number of conditions:
• That the property is maintained in reasonable standard of repair and condition and is adequately
insured;
• That all outgoings associated with the property (e.g. Council tax, service charges, ground rent,
insurance) are paid;
• That any net rental income derived from letting the property during the period of the agreement is
fully declared to the Council and will be assessed in accordance with Department of Health
statutory guidance;
• That the person receiving care and/or their representative acknowledges that they have received
the Council’s advice that they should seek independent financial advice before committing
themselves to this agreement;
• Where the property is jointly owned, that all co-owners as well as the applicant must agree to the
Council’s form of charge;
• That the person, or their representative, agrees to notify the Council without delay of any change
in circumstances which would affect the value of property or the sustainability of the deferred
payment agreement.

14. Financial Assessment of contributions
14.1

Applicants entitled to a deferred payment agreement will be assessed to make a financial
contribution towards the costs of care from their assessable income and capital (for example,
savings and investments). The assessed contribution will follow Department of Health guidance.

15. Annual reviews and Deferred Payment statements
15.1

The Deferred Payment Agreement will be reviewed annually to assess the value of the property
and ensure that there is adequate security to protect the Council’s legal charge on the property.
More frequent reviews can be carried out, if appropriate, where a persons circumstances change.

15.2

In addition to reviewing the deferred payment bi-annual statements will be sent to the person
entitled to the deferred payment agreement and/or their representative. The statements will set out
the amount of care fees deferred, any interest and administrative charges to date, the total amount

due and equity available in the property. The statements will also give an indication of progress
towards the deferred payment upper limit.

16. Terminating the Deferred Payment Agreement
16.1 The Deferred Payment Agreement can be terminated in a number of ways:
• Voluntarily by the person receiving care or someone acting on their behalf paying the full amount
that is due
• When the property (or other form of security) is sold
• When the person receiving care dies.
16.2

Where the agreement is voluntarily terminated the Council will require written notice of termination
(the full terms under which the agreement can be terminated will be set out in the Deferred
Payment Agreement)

16.3

On termination the full amount due (care charges, interest accrued, administrative and legal fees)
will be paid to the Council.

16.4

If the person decides to sell the property they must notify the Council. They will be required to pay
the Council from the proceeds of the sale.

16.5

The deferred payment agreement will automatically come to an end on a person’s death. The debt
can either be paid from a person’s estate or by a third party, for example a family member may
choose to settle the debt rather than sell the deceased’s property. If the agreement is terminated
through a person’s death the total amount due becomes payable within 90 days of the date that the
person dies.

17. Reassessments following repayment to the Council
17.1

If a Deferred Payment Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a persons death, the
Council shall undertake a reassessment of the persons social care needs and finances. The
purpose of the reassessment would be to determine whether that the person receiving care
continues to have eligible care needs where the Council has a continuing responsibility to fund or
arrange such care.

18. Refusing an application
18.1

The Council can refuse a request for deferred payment. In such circumstances the decision will be
notified in writing to the person and/or their personal representative. The decision notice will set out
the grounds for refusal and provide for appeal rights. Reasons for refusing a deferred payment can
include:
• There is insufficient equity in the property to fund the deferred payment
• The applicant or their representative has failed to provide all of the relevant information to
process the application

• The Council is unable to place a legal charge on the property which would secure the deferred
payment

19. Review and Appeals procedure
19.1

Any decision on the outcome of an application for a deferred payment can be reviewed. The
grounds for review could include:
• The decision to refuse the application failed to take into account any new information which may
have led to a different the decision.
• There are eligible care costs which the Council have failed to take into account

19.2

Requests for a review should be made within 20 working days of being notified of the outcome of
the application for a Deferred Payment Agreement. Such requests should be in writing, should set
out the grounds for the review request and should be addressed to the officer who issued the
decision notice.

19.3

If the person is dissatisfied with the outcome of the review, they can then appeal within 20 working
days of being notified of the outcome of the review. Such appeals should be in writing, should set
out the grounds for the appeal and should be addressed to the Head of Finance.

20. Information and advice
20.1

The Council will provide advice and information about deferred payments through a variety of
channels; for example the Councils website or leaflets. Information and advice will be provided
during the 12 week property disregard period and at other stages during the care and financial
assessment process.

20.2

Advice and information also includes financial advice. Under the Care Act all local authorities are
required to ensure that people have access to independent financial advice. The Council will
ensure that all applicants receive information so that they should be able to access such
independent financial advice.

Appendix E
Structure of Charges
Arrangement Fees for Care Services
Regulations and Statutory Guidance:
The Care and Support Statutory Guidance, Section 8 covers Charging and Financial
Assessment with Paragraphs 8.57 to 8.63 containing more details about how the
administration charge should be constructed and applied.
The guidance states that the arrangement fees may be averaged to give a simple flat
rate. However, the fee must be level with, or less than, the costs incurred by the
authority in providing the service. The fee can include the costs of negotiating with
providers, contract management and administration costs incurred.
The table below sets out the proposed charge and the basis of the calculation. This fee
will become part of the annual fees and charges report considered by Members as part
of setting the following years budget. This fee will next be reviewed for April 2016.
VAT charges have been excluded from the calculation (it is expected these professional
services would be liable for VAT at the standard rate).
Value
(£)

Ref

Part Year Charge?

First Year Charges:
Paying invoices to the provider (annual)

48.00

Invoicing the client (annual)

57.00

Care management support (one off)

155.00

Total

260.00

1 1/12th payable per month or
1 any part there of
2

Payable in full for any
length of scheme

Charges in subsequent years:
Paying invoices to the provider (annual)

48.00

Invoicing the client (annual)

57.00

1 1/12th payable per month or
1 any part there of

Care management support

89.00

2

Total

Payable in full for any
length of scheme

194.00

Other Charges:
It is not anticipated there would be additional fees, however, if fees were not paid then
court costs may be incurred, these would be charged in full (potentially with the addition
of County Court Judgement interest charges).
References:
1. This is the estimated cost of raising, printing, posting and collecting invoices raised
(client contributions) or processing and paying invoices received (supplier invoices).
2. The care management fees looks at the cost of supporting the
individual/representative to find appropriate accommodation, brokering the

placement, contract management, staff time to set the individual up on the various
systems, raise the orders, printing and posting the contract and other relevant
paperwork, including on-costs and management recharges apportionment (total
staff time estimated at 3.5 hours, and 2 hours for a review).
Fees for Deferred Payments
Regulations and Statutory Guidance:
The Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014, Section 10 deals with
Administration Charges. The Care and Support Statutory Guidance, Section 9 covers
Deferred Payments with Paragraphs 9.65 to 9.73 containing more details about how the
interest rate and administration charge should be applied.
The regulations and guidance imply that only the ‘administration’ elements of the
charges may be averaged, with property specific actual costs being applied as
appropriate (authorities must publish guide prices). The Statutory Guidance goes
further in stating that fees should be accrued (and deferred) as they are incurred,
implying that an upfront fee to cover the average cost of the scheme is not an option.
This implies that an averaged or actual fee applied annually in arrears would be
appropriate and interest could then be incurred on that fee if the individual wished to
defer it. The IT system is being enhanced to support these new requirements.
The table below sets out the proposed charge and the basis of the calculation. This fee
will become part of the annual fees and charges report considered by Members as part
of setting the following years budget. This fee will next be reviewed for April 2016.
VAT charges have been excluded from the calculation (it is expected these professional
services would be liable for VAT at the standard rate). The fees set out below also
exclude any disbursements (Ref 4) which will be recharged at cost.
Value
(£)

Ref

Part Year Charge?

First Year Charges:
Legal costs of placing a charge
on the property (one off)

360.00

1

Payable in full for any length of
scheme

Managing the Account

105.00

2

1/12th payable per month or any
part there of

Care management support (one
off)

290.00

3

Payable in full for any length of
scheme

Total (including Brokerage)

755.00

Total (excluding Brokerage)

600.00

4

Managing the Account

105.00

2

Care management support

156.00

3

Total (including Brokerage)

261.00

Total (excluding Brokerage)

172.00

Charges in subsequent years:

4

1/12th payable per month or any
part there of

Other Charges:

5

Disbursements at cost;
Removal of Charge at land Registry - £65.
References:
1. This is the estimated average cost provided by Legal Services. It includes the
costs of staff time in placing the charge; collecting official copy documents from
Land Registry, Legal Services time in drafting the paperwork, postage, printing,
bank charges and the
2. This is the estimated cost of managing the DPA account which includes
production and despatching of statements; raising, printing, posting and
collecting invoices raised (client contributions) or processing and paying invoices
received (supplier invoices.
3. The care management fees looks at the cost of supporting the
individual/representative to find appropriate accommodation, brokering the
placement, contract management, staff time to set the individual up on the
various systems, raise the orders, printing and posting the contract and other
relevant paperwork, including on-costs and management recharges
apportionment (total staff time estimated at 3.5 hours, or 2 hours for a review) It
also includes the costs of determining eligibility for a DPA and ascertaining all the
relevant details about a property (total staff time estimated at 3 hours, or 1.5
hours for a review) [compliant with Section 10, 4, a, of the Legislation, shown at the
end of the document].
4. A deduction equal to the set up and ongoing charge for care management
support as shown in “Arrangement Fees for Care Services” would not be
chargeable if a DPA customer chose to arrange their own care services.
5. Disbursements may include (but are not limited) to:
a. Land Registry Search fees (typically £6-£12);
b. Registering a legal charge with the Land Registry against the title of the
property (typically £40);
c. Removing a legal charge with the Land Registry against the title of the
property (£65 Legal Services charge only);
d. Cost of professional valuation of a property if required (typically around
£450);
e. Building or structural survey;
f. Insurance (if arranging on customers behalf)
Detail from the Legislation:
10
Administration costs6
(1) The local authority may charge the adult its administration costs in accordance with
paragraph (3) or (4) provided that it informs the adult that it proposes to do so,
6

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/376204/2903119_Care_Act
_Negative_Regulations_Master.pdf (page 40)

before entering into the agreement, and complies with sub–paragraphs (a) to (c) of
paragraph (5).
(2) The administration costs may be treated in the same way as the adult’s deferred
amount, unless the adult requests to pay them separately.
(3) In this paragraph the administration costs are the total of any costs incurred by the
authority in relation to the adult’s deferred payment agreement including but not
limited to:
(a) the costs of postage, printing and photocopying;
(b) the costs of time spent by persons in relation to the agreement;
(c) the costs of overheads, such as computer equipment and utility charges (to the
extent that they are not already included in the costs of time spent by persons in
relation to the agreement);
(d) the costs incurred for the purpose of ascertaining the value of the adequate
security;
(e) the costs incurred in registering the charge on the land or land charges register;
(f) the costs incurred in perfecting the security obtained in respect of the deferred
amount;
(g) the costs incurred in discharging or redeeming the security obtained in respect
of the deferred amount; and
(h) the costs which are incurred by the authority for the purpose of ensuring
compliance by the parties of the terms and conditions in the agreement.
(4) In this paragraph the administration costs are:
(a) the average cost to the local authority incurred in relation to deferred payment
agreements generally, having regard to the costs and fees referred to in subparagraphs (a) to (c) of paragraph (3), and for these purposes the local
authority may provide for different average costs for different situations;
(b) the costs incurred for the purpose of ascertaining the value of the adequate
security;
(c) the costs incurred in registering the charge on the land or land charges register;
(d) the costs incurred in perfecting the security obtained in respect of the deferred
amount;
(e) the costs incurred in discharging or redeeming the security obtained in respect
of the deferred amount; and
(f) the costs which are incurred by the authority for the purpose of ensuring
compliance by the parties of its terms and conditions.
(5) But the local authority must:
(a) before entering into the agreement, give the adult an estimate of the amount of
any charge it envisages levying in respect of making the agreement and
registering any charge;
(b) before entering into the agreement give the adult an indication of its current
charges for, and the matters in respect of which, it considers it may impose a
charge under the agreement and information to enable the adult to ascertain the
charges if they change during the period during which the agreement is in force;
(c) before requesting payment of any charge, or treating it in the same way as the
deferred amount, provide the adult with a statement which sets out the amount
of the charge:
(i) which, in a case where the administration costs are calculated in accordance
with paragraph (3), is attributable to each of the items referred to in
paragraph (3); or
(ii) which, in a case where the costs are calculated in accordance with
paragraph 4, is attributable to the costs referred to in paragraph (4)(a) and
each of the items referred to in sub-paragraphs (b) to (f) of that paragraph.

TITLE

Procedure for Dealing with Special Event
Temporary Closures on Public Rights of Way

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 25 June 2015

WARD

Remenham, Wargrave and Ruscombe,
Finchampstead South, Swallowfield

DIRECTOR

Heather Thwaites Director of Environment

LEAD MEMBER

Angus Ross, Executive Member for Environment

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To provide clarity as to how the Council will deal with applications for temporary
closures of public rights of way affecting any part of the Thames Path National Trail or
the Blackwater Valley Footpath within the Borough, where the closure is required to hold
special events such as the Henley Festival for Music and Arts.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive agrees that for applications for temporary closures on rights of way
on the Thames Path and the Blackwater Valley Footpath for special events the following
policy will be adopted:
1)

prior consultation will be carried out with the following groups: The Ramblers’
Association, The Open Spaces Society, Natural England, the relevant Parish
Council and the ward member/s for the area through which the path is situated;
and

2)

the decision as to whether a closure will be made will be taken by the Executive.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
There has been opposition by a number of organisations, to proposed annual closure of
the Thames Path for the holding of the Henley Festival of Music and Arts. The path
which is a public right of way is closed under s.16A of the Road Traffic Regulation Act.
There are no legal procedures for consultation on such closures. This documents sets
out how the Authority is to consult on future applications for closure for events held on
high profile recreational routes such as the Thames Path and the Blackwater Valley
Path.

Background
1.
At the Executive meeting of March 2014, it was considered that a working group
(WG) should be established to address the concerns frequently expressed in
connection with the request for the closure of part of Public Footpath 4 Remenham to
allow for the annual holding of the Henley Festival of Music and the Arts. The Henley
Festival is held annually on a section of public footpath, making it necessary to close the
footpath in the days leading up to the event, during evening performances and for a
period after the event.
2.
The Executive report for the Temporary Closure recommended that a WG was to
be established to investigate the principle of limiting closures of public rights of way for
the holding of future sporting or social events. Consideration was to be given to ‘the
introduction of a byelaw and/or policy which would preclude any further applications,
to investigate the principle of limiting current closures to those existing and to
conditioning those closures so that they have the minimum impact on the residents
and public’.
3.
Footpath 4 Remenham is part of the Thames Path National Trail, which is set in
a beautiful location and is therefore a footpath of considerable local and national
significance. It is widely used by local residents and visitors to the area and was
described by the Member for Remenham and Wargrave as “a jewel in the Borough”.
4.
Over the years, considerable opposition has been voiced about the closure of
this popular footpath by Remenham Parish Council, the Open Spaces Society and the
Ramblers’ Association, as the closure excludes the public from using part of the right of
way, for the purposes of holding of a commercial event. In addition, concern has been
expressed about the setting of a precedent culminating in successive closures along the
river bank throughout the summer months to the detriment of local residents and visitors
to the area. However, to date no complaints regarding the current closure have been
made by members of the public.
5.
The closure of the footpath is made by order under section 16A of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984. Provided that the relevant legislative requirements are
taken into account, the Council is acting within its powers to make the closure order.
The test the Council has to apply is whether ‘it is reasonably practicable to hold the
event otherwise than on the road’ in this case the road or highway is a public right of
way. The proposed closure is presented to the Executive annually and because it is for
more than three days it also has to be approved by the Secretary of State for Transport
(SoS). The Council is of the view that it is necessary to close the footpath as it is a part
of the event area, a view with which the Secretary of State (SoS) for Transport concurs,
as the making of the Order had been approved for several years.
6.
There are no procedural regulations in force which govern the making of such
orders ie a list of statutory consultees, when and where the order should be advertised,
and whether officers or Members make a final decision on the request . Therefore in the
interests of transparency, over the years the Council has adopted an informal
consultation process involving the Ramblers’ Association, the Open Spaces Society,
Natural England, the Parish Council and ward members. A report is then taken to the
Executive thus giving objectors and supporters an opportunity to be heard on the matter
before the decision is taken by Members. The council asks the applicant to provide an
alternative route for walkers during the closure periods.

7.
The WG was set up in December 2014 comprising Councillors: Stuart Munro,
Lindsay Ferris, Simon Weeks and Parry Batth, with Officers: Josie Wragg (Head of
Community Services), Catherine Woodward (Shared Legal Solutions) and Rebecca
Walkley (Countryside Officer). The Group met three times throughout December and
January to investigate the various proposals and to devise a policy on how to deal with
future applications under s.16A of the RTRA.
8.
The WG considered the terms of reference as set out in the recommendation (2
above) and were advised that a byelaw precluding the consideration of further closures
of public rights of way for commercial events was unworkable. This was because the
use of its powers under Section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972 would be
invalid, as it was doubtful whether grounds exist to establish that such a byelaw is
necessary for the purposes of ‘good rule and governance or the suppression of
nuisances within the Borough’.
9.
The WG was also advised that a byelaw was probably unnecessary as the
relevant legislation (the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984) contained a safeguard
against successive closures of the same section of footpath for special events. The
consent of the Secretary of State is required for further closures during the same
calendar year (section 16B(6) Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984). The group was
reminded that to date no other applications for closures under section 16A had been
received for the same section of path or indeed for any other stretches of the Thames
Path or the Blackwater Valley Footpath.
10.

It was accepted by the WG that a byelaw was unnecessary in the circumstances.

11.
The WG also considered the principle of limiting closures to those events
previously approved. However the group was advised that a stated intention to refuse
any other requests for closures under 16A would be invalid as each application has to
be considered on its own merits. The WG was advised that the Council is required to
consider any other applications for closures under section 16A and that when doing so it
would be required to have regard to all the relevant legal considerations such as the
necessity for the holding of a relevant event, the availability of any alternative route and
the safety and convenience of any alternative route as set out in the legislation.
12.
The principle of conditioning the impact of closures was also considered by the
WG. It was accepted that it is necessary to continue to rigorously challenge the
organisers of any event requiring the closure of a public right of way to ensure that the
inevitable impact to users as a consequence of the closure is minimised as much as is
reasonably practical in every case. It was recognised that for significant footpaths such
as those comprising part of the Thames Path or the Blackwater Valley Footpath, the
impact on users of any closure would be greater than other less well used routes. It was
therefore agreed that closer scrutiny would be required as to arrangements for the
provision of an alternative route and the necessity for prolonged closure periods before
any request would be considered. It was also agreed that the present consultation
exercise adopted for dealing with the Henley Festival application should be adopted in
relation to requests for all closures under section 16A affecting any part of the Thames
Path or the Blackwater Valley Footpath situated within the Borough.
13.
Consequently, it is recommended by the WG that the following policy should be
adopted in respect of applications for closure under section 16A of the Road Traffic

Regulation Act 1984 affecting the Thames Path National Trail or the Blackwater
Footpath- (1) That prior consultation will be carried out with the following groups; The
Ramblers’ Association, The Open Spaces Society, Natural England, the relevant Parish
Council and the ward member/s for the area through which the path is situated; and (2)
that the decision as to whether an order will be made under section 16A will be taken by
the Executive.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A
N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
N/A
Cross-Council Implications
N/A
List of Background Papers
None
Contact : Rebecca Walkley
Telephone No 07789161256
Date 12 June 2015

Service Countryside
Email
Rebecca.walkley@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No.

TITLE

Council Owned Companies Business

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on 25 June 2015

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

LEAD MEMBER

Keith Baker, Leader of The Council

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Transparency in respect of Council Owned Companies
RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to:
1)
note the budget monitoring position for the financial year 2014-15;
2)

note the operational update for the financial year 2014-15.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Changes in Directorship in WBC (Holdings) Limited
There have been no changes to WBC (Holdings) Ltd directorships since the last report
to Executive in May 2015.
Strategy and Objectives of the Council’s Subsidiary Companies
There has been no change to the Strategy and Objectives of the Council’s Subsidiary
Companies included in the report to Executive Committee in May 2015.
Operational Update
An operational update is provided for each of the companies as at May 2015, which
emphasises that certain group companies, mainly Wokingham Housing Ltd, are
currently in the cash flow intensive capital development phase, to be followed by income
generation arising from the developments.
Financial Report
A budget monitoring report is provided for each of the companies for 2014/15, which
confirms that overall the group is in a loss making position as budgeted. This reflects the
significant level of capital works being undertaken by WHL, which will be followed in
later years by income flows from the investments. The figures are provisional and
subject to audit.
1. Operational Update to May 2015
1.1 WBC (Holdings) Ltd
WBC (Holdings) Ltd does not undertake any operations as it is a holding company.

1.2 Optalis
Recruitment of front line care staff remains the biggest ongoing operational challenge,
particularly for Home Care workers. Optalis has invested full time resource into this
area and is continually seeking innovative ways to attract staff to Optalis.
A high turnover of staff was experienced during 2014-15, on average 32% across the
company. Efforts have been made both in the areas of recruitment and retention and for
the last quarter (Jan-March 2015) staff turnover stood at 17%, which is significantly
below the average for care providers in the borough of 29% and therefore a positive
development for Optalis.
2015/16 will be a year of consolidation for Optalis, with permanent appointments to the
Managing Director and Chairman roles to be made, and investments in staff around
training, internal communications, and improved staff engagement a priority.
The focus remains the successful delivery of the core care contract with the Council,
with some modest growth plans to offset inflationary pressures on the cost base.
Optalis broadly performs well on the Core Contract for care services. The homecare and
reablement services have delivered volumes of activity below the levels required by the
contract for reasons of both capacity (recruitment) and also low levels of referrals into
services. This is the subject of regular reporting and joint working with the commissioner
to resolve.
1.3 Wokingham Housing Ltd (WHL)
1.3.1 WHL Completed schemes:
The residents at Hillside Park, (10 flats for people with learning disabilities and 2 older
persons bungalows), are settled in and the inspections to conclude the defects liability
period are underway. At New Beverly House, (Vauxhall Dr), the 4 residents with learning
disabilities are also settled in their new home.
1.3.2 WHL Schemes in Progress and/or Development :
Eustace Crescent, (Phoenix Avenue): Planning permission has been secured for 68
new homes, (50% social rent and 50% affordable rent), on this former council estate.
The contract is out to tender via the Homes and Communities Agency, (HCA),
Development Partner Framework, with the contractor being appointed at the end of
June and a start on site in mid-August. The first handovers are scheduled for midFebruary 2017.
Former Fosters Care Home: Planning permission has been awarded for 34, (affordable
rent), enhanced care flats for older people on the site of the former Fosters Care Home.
The detailed design is being developed with specialist architects and with input from
WBC’s Adult Social Care Team. This scheme will also be procured via the HCA
Framework, with a contractor due to be appointed in October for a start on site in
November. Handover is expected in April 2017. The HCA have recently confirmed that
£1.4m of grant funding is allocated to the project, (50% payable on commencement and
50% on completion).
Barratt Crescent: This scheme of 2 X 2 bed flats to be let at social rents is due to go
before the Planning Committee in May.

Pipe-line sites: A pipe-line of around 55 smaller sites is at various stages of
development and will go before the Planning Committee during the spring and summer
period. WHL is also working with WBC on bringing forward proposals for the
regeneration of Gorse Ride and a number of other significant opportunities on WBC
sites and other locations.
Loddon Homes: The Registered Provider (RP) work will be finished during May 2015
and will be considered by the WHL Board and the WBC (Holdings) Ltd shortly
afterwards and subject to approval onto the HCA to be considered by their Regulatory
Committee. This will be the first registration of a local authority housing company
sponsored registered provider. A total of £1.75m of grant funding has been secured to
date for WHL’s Hillside and Fosters schemes.
Staffing Update: The staff team has been strengthened by the appointment of Darren
Toes, (a chartered surveyor), as Operations Director. The Managing Director, Robin
Fielder left at the end of May. Bill Flood, a very experienced manager with private and
public sector experience has taken up the post of Managing Director in mid-May.
A revision of the WHL business plan will be produced and circulated as early as
possible to clarify WHLs key objectives and targets in supporting the Council’s
agenda’s. This will include the role LHL will play in delivering parts of WHLs business
plan around affordable housing.
2.

Budget Monitoring for 2014-15 financial year

2.1 WBC Group Consolidated, (i.e. comprising WBC (Holdings) Ltd, Wokingham
Housing Ltd, and Optalis Ltd).
The figures shown below represent the overall expenditure and income of the Council’s
subsidiary companies :
At the operational level, the net deficit was £140k compared to budgeted surplus of
£130k.
After tax, interest and exceptional items, the loss for the year is £368k compared to a
budgeted loss of £387k. A shortfall in Optalis income was largely offset by savings in
Optalis expenditure, and by savings of interest on loans for WHL developments partially
offset by capitalisation and other WHL costs explained below.
2.2 WBC (Holdings) Ltd
A loss of £177k is reported compared to a budgeted loss of £537k. This is largely due to
a saving of £390k on interest as anticipated works on Eustace Crescent did not take
place, and as a result forecast loans from the Council to WBC (Holdings) Ltd were
significantly lower at £612k than the forecast, resulting in lower interest charges. Losses
are expected in the early years as a result of the upfront investments required with
subsequent income accruing from the investments. The balance sheet reflects the
transfer of the Council’s shareholdings in Optalis and WHL totalling £1.95m to WBC
(Holdings) Ltd.

2.3 Optalis
The full year pre-tax result for the twelve months to March 2015 is a profit before tax of
£155k - unfavourable to budget by £25k (budget £180k).
The key favourable variances during the year have related to operational vacancies and
delays in recruitment, and unbudgeted third party income. These have been offset by
unfavourable variances in agency spend, the implementation of the National Pay
Agreement and lack of private homecare growth.
A budgeted amount of £195k has been returned to the Commissioner within these
amounts.
Net assets at 31 March are £154k (budget £171k) Cash at 31 March was £610k (budget
£347k).
2.4 Wokingham Housing (Including Wokingham Housing Ltd & Loddon Homes Ltd)
An operating loss of £323k is reported for the full year, compared to a budgeted profit of
£10k. This variance is largely due to a decision to reverse the capitalisation of staff
salaries, which accounted for an extra £182k charge to the Profit and Loss Account. In
addition, a £27k charge for depreciation was unbudgeted, while there were £44k extra
property related costs for rates, repairs and a review of sites. Additional financial support
costs, unbudgeted audit fees and central professional support added £40k to costs while
recognition of interest on loans from WBC / WBC (Holdings) added a further 24k to
costs. Similar to WBC (Holdings) Ltd, deficits are expected in early years as operational
costs are required to develop income generating schemes.

3.

Background to Budget Monitoring Reports

3.1 WBC (Holdings) Ltd
Profit & Loss Account (P & L) for the 2014-15 financial year
WBC (Holdings) Ltd

Income

Actual
£

Budget
£

0

0

Operating Expenditure

(176,856)

Operating Loss

(176,856)

(536,961)
(536,961)

Variance
£

0
(360,105)
(360,105)

Expenditure for the year of £177k is £360k below budget of £537k primarily as a result
of interest on loans being below budget due to delayed starts on WHL developments.

4.2 Wokingham Housing Ltd (WHL)

P&L for the full year to March 2015
Wokingham Housing Ltd (Consolidated)
Mar YTD
Actual
£

Mar YTD
Budget
£

94,026

93,676

Operating Expenditure

(416,643)

(84,018)

(332,625)

Operating Loss

(322,616)

9,658

(332,275)

Profit and Loss Account for the period to 31st March 2015

Income

Mar YTD
Variance
£
350

Income for the full year is £94k, which exceeds the budget by £350.
Operating expenditure for the full year of £417k is £333k adverse to budget of £84k,
primarily as a result of the reversal of capitalised pay costs, unbudgeted depreciation
charges and under-budgeted tenanted property costs.

Balance Sheet

WOKINGHAM HOUSING LIMITED / LODDON HOMES LIMITED
Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet): March 2015
Loddon Wokingham
Homes Ltd Housing Ltd
Non-Current Assets
Leasehold Properties
Furniture & Fittings
Assets under Construction
Investments

Combined

Combined

31st March 2015

31st March 2014

£

£

£

1,262,936.53
16,511.20
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
744,283.09
1.00

1,227,790.53
16,511.20
744,283.09
0.00

22,938.31
1,190.55
347.80
35,618.17
0.00

6,157.32
6,360.05
1,570,135.33
185,804.39
15,188.91

29,095.63
7,550.60
483.13
221,422.56
15,188.91

(407.83)
0.00
(1,582,381.30)
(6,570.00)

(72,539.55)
(43,994.41)
(399,167.50)
(88,832.08)

(72,947.38)
(43,994.41)
(421,421.71)
(95,402.08)

(1,529,264.30)

1,179,112.46

(360,024.75)

(10,682.00)

(249,816.57)

1,923,396.55

1,628,560.07

1,373,608.00

612,715.00

612,715.00

(249,816.57)

1,310,681.55

1,015,845.07

1,373,608.00

(249,817.57)
1.00

(589,318.45)
1,900,000.00

(884,154.93)
1,900,000.00

(526,392.00)
1,900,000.00

(249,816.57)

1,310,681.55

1,015,845.07

1,373,608.00

1,988,584.82

1,280,650.00
19,350.00
84,289.00
1.00

1,384,290.00

273,740.83

0.00
7,731.00
175,000.00
115,386.00
2,721.00

300,838.00

(633,765.58)

(15,807.00)
(43,994.00)
(203,217.00)
(48,502.00)

(311,520.00)

Current Assets
Dr Control
Pre-Payments
Inter-Co Drs
Bank A/c
VAT Liability

Current Liabilities
Cr Control
Retentions
Inter-Co Crs
Accruals

Net Current Assets/(liabilities)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Total Liabilities
Equity

Reserves
Share Capital
Total Equity

Non-Current Assets of £1,988k comprise of Leasehold Properties £1.228m
(Hillside Park),Furniture and Fittings £17k (Hillside Park), Assets Under Construction
£744k
Current Assets of £274k comprise £37k debtors and prepayments, £221k
cash as the bank and £15k VAT refund expected
Current Liabilities of £634k comprise £168k of invoices held and accrual projections at the
balance sheet date in addition to £44k of retentions and £421k owed to WBC / WBC
(Holdings).
Non Current Liabilities of £613k relate to inter-group loans.
In total there are 1,900,000 issued and fully paid Ordinary £1 shares held by
WBC (Holdings) Ltd. The authorised share capital remains at £1.9m.

4.3 Optalis

P&L for the 12 months to March 2015

Overview of Results – YTD
Total Company

Actual

Budget

(£000)

(£000)

Budget
Variance
(£000)

11,044
(10,695)
349

11,295
(10,983)
312

(251)
288
37

Non trading costs
Depreciation

(112)
(82)

(60)
(72)

(52)
(10)

Profit before tax

155

180

(25)

Corporation tax

(33)

(40)

7

Net profit

122

140

(18)

Turnover
Costs
Operating Profit

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

See other financial
implications below
See other financial
implications below
See other financial
implications below

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

Revenue or
Capital?

Yes

Revenue

Yes

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The Council will benefit from reduced costs in commissioning services, the interest and
management charges to WBC (Holdings) Ltd and future profits paid out as dividend.
These will be factored into the Medium Term Financial Plan under the appropriate
service.

Cross-Council Implications
No Cross-Council Implications
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Stephen McGrail
Telephone No 0118 974 6560
Date 15 June 2015

Service Resources
Email
Stephen.McGrail@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

